
Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session.  The 
Council will webcast the meeting.

Please ask for:
Graham Seal

9 November 2018

Dear Councillor 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH 
COUNCIL to be held on Monday 19 November 2018  at 7.30pm in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, Herts, AL8 6AE.

Yours faithfully

Corporate Director
Public Protection, Planning and Governance

A G E N D A
PART 1

1.  APOLOGIES 

To receive apologies for absence, if any.

2.  MINUTES 

To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the special meeting held on 
23 October 2018 (previously circulated).

3.  APPOINTMENT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND CABINET 

(a) To appoint the Leader of the Council.
(b) To note the appointments by the Leader of the Council of the Cabinet.

Public Document Pack



4.  PETITIONS (Pages 5 - 8)

The Mayor will receive a petition about the Lawn Cemetery in Southway, 
Hatfield.  

As the petition contains more than 1500 signatures the petition organiser will be 
given five minutes to present it at the meeting and it will then be discussed for a 
maximum of fifteen minutes in accordance with the Council Petition Scheme.  

The Corporate Director (Resources, Environment and Cultural Services) has 
provided a report to help the Council to decide how to respond to the petition.

5.  APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES (Pages 9 - 14)

To approve the appointments of Members to Committees as in Appendix “A”.

6.  QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC (Pages 15 - 16)

A period of thirty minutes will be made available for questions to be put by 
Members of the public to Members of the Cabinet on matters for which the 
Council has a responsibility or which affect the Borough.

7.  DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS BY MEMBERS 

To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-
disclosable pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items 
on the Agenda.

8.  ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive any announcements from the Mayor, Leader of the Council, Member 
of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service.

9.  QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS (Pages 17 - 18)

For a period of up to thirty minutes, a Member of the Council who has given prior 
notice in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 45, may ask (a) the Mayor, (b) 
the Leader of the Council or (c) a Member of the Cabinet a question on any 
matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough.

Details of questions received in accordance with Procedure Rule 45 will be 
tabled at the meeting.  A Member asking a question may ask, without giving 
notice, one supplementary question of the Member to whom the first question 
was asked.  The supplementary question must arise directly out of the reply.



10.  MATTERS ARISING FROM THE CABINET 

To consider recommendations from the meeting of the Cabinet on 6 November 
2018:-

(a)   Adoption of the Welwyn Hatfield Council Statement of Principles Under the 
Gambling Act 2005 (Pages 19 - 86)

(b)   Street Trading Policy (Pages 87 - 130)

(c)   Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2019/20 (Pages 131 - 136)

11.  NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50 (Pages 137 - 138)

To consider notices of motions submitted under Procedure Rule 50 in such order 
as the Mayor shall direct.  Details of motions received by the deadline of 12noon 
on 12 November 2018 will be circulated separately.

12.  URGENT MATTERS 

To consider any matters of urgency subject to the agreement of the Mayor in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 13(r).

Circulation: The Mayor and Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Corporate Management Team
Press and Public (except Part II Items)

If you require any further information about this Agenda please contact Graham 
Seal, Governance Services on 01707 357444 or email – democracy@welhat.gov.uk 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Zoe Woodward
Executive Member: Cllr Stephen Boulton
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 NOVEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

PETITION RECEIVED REGARDING THE LAWN CEMETERY 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 A petition has been received from a family of the late Simey Doherty who was 
buried in Hatfield Lawn Cemetery in May 2018.  The petition seeks to make two 
exceptions to the Council’s Lawn Cemetery guidelines for Simon Doherty burial 
plot:

 To allow a variety of memorials to remain on Simey Doherty plot prior to permanent 
memorials being arranged;

 To permit larger permanent memorials to fit with their cultural traditions.

1.2 There are four main reasons for the petition:

 The family believe they do not have a choice as there are no other Council run 
cemeteries within the borough where they can have full grave sets. 

 If they go outside the borough they will pay at least triple fees.  

 Their culture is for family to be buried in the same cemetery.  

 Their cultural tradition is for full grave sets to prevent people walking over the 
grave/disturbing the spirits and for memorabilia to be placed on the grave to 
represent the person who is deceased and helps to keep their memory alive.

1.3 Over 1500 signatures have been received both online and paper combined, the 
matter raised in the petition is an important issue of local concern for which the 
Council has responsibility, and therefore the petition will need to be debated at 
Full Council.

1.4 Cabinet has agreed in August 2018 to expand the remit of the Cross Party 
Crematorium Procurement Group to consider and make recommendations to 
Cabinet on the way forward for grave clearance at the Lawn Cemetery.  Given 
that the recommendation of the Cross Party group will be considered by Cabinet 
at a future meeting, it would be worth for Council to refer to Cabinet to consider 
asking the Cross Party Crematorium Procurement Group to discuss the issues 
raised in the petition and recommend the way forward to Cabinet.  

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Council notes the content of this report.

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



- 2 -

2.2 Council recommends Cabinet to consult the views of the Cross Party 
Crematorium Procurement Group on the issues raised in the petition before 
making a decision on the way forward for grave clearance at the Lawn Cemetery.

3 Explanation

3.1 Lawn Cemetery rules and regulations state that no permanent memorial can be 
placed on the lawn area of the grave and must be placed on the concrete plinth 
provided by the council.  Plots purchased prior to 2010 were permitted to have an 
area 3ft by 3ft in front of the concrete plinth.  

3.2 Cemetery Services have received concerns from people who visit the cemetery – 
those that wish to retain the cemetery as a lawn cemetery and those who wish to 
have the regulations changed so larger memorials are permitted. What is not 
known is if the rules and regulations were relaxed completely, would this create a 
far greater number of complaints about the loss of a lawn cemetery?

3.3 Cemetery service standards including regulations and renaming of the District 
Lawn Cemetery was resolved and proposals to retain the Lawn as a lawn 
cemetery agreed by Cabinet in April 2010.  In August 2012, the Environment and 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee considered a report that details plans to 
encourage and ensure that the Lawn Cemetery is maintained.  The procedure 
was subsequently endorsed by Cabinet in September 2012.

3.4 Between February and May 2018, areas of the cemetery were sent letters from 
the Council to the deed holders requesting the removal of memorial items that 
did not meet the regulations.  This was done section by section with clearance 
starting on 3rd April.  Clearance was stopped on 14th June after concerns raised 
by Health and Safety following two verbal threats received by an officer.  
Approximately 130 plots in total were cleared.  When the clearance was stopped, 
there were 21 plots that still required clearing of memorial items, which 13 further 
advised that they will not remove their memorial items.  

3.5 It is important to note that all applicants sign the application agreeing to abide by 
the cemetery rules and that they are aware that no memorials, other than those 
prescribed under the Council’s Cemetery Regulations, will be placed on the 
grave.  

3.6 Some of the deed holders stated they do not have a choice as there are no other 
cemeteries in the Borough where they can have full grave sets.  If they go 
outside the borough they will pay at least triple fees.  Nearly all of these deed 
holders tend to their graves well and are regular visitors to the cemetery, often 
daily.  Their tradition is also for family to be buried in the same cemetery.  These 
deed holders have also advised that their cultural traditions do not permit people 
to walk over their graves.

3.7 There are proposals within the Draft Local Plan (currently under examination) to 
extend the size of the current Lawn Cemetery. If this goes ahead, the Council 
would look to include more variety in burial options, which would include full kerb 
sets.

Page 6



- 3 -

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 There are no direct legal implications to this report.  Any legal implications will be 
presented in the report to Cabinet if the recommendation at 2.2 above is 
approved.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 There are no financial implications associated with the report.  

6 Risk Management Implication(s)

6.1 There is a risk to the safety of Council and John O’Conner Staff working within 
the cemetery following threats received.  Precautions are being introduced to off-
set these risks.

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no Security and Terrorism implications in relation to this report.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are no procurement implications inherent in relation to the content of this 
report.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 There are no climate change implications inherent in relation to this report.

10 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

10.1 No implications in relation to this report.

11 Link to Corporate Priorities

11.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority;
Protect and Enhance the Environment and specifically to the achievement of 
Developing the Provision of Bereavement Services. 

12 Equality and Diversity

12.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been carried out in connection with the 
proposals that are set out in this report. 

Name of author Zoe Woodward
Title Cemetery Services Officer
Date 2nd November 2018

Background papers to be listed

1st August 2012 EOSC – Council Policies and Procedure for Restoring Graves to Lawn  
4th September 2012 Cabinet – Recommendation from EOSC on 1st August 2012
7th August 2018 Cabinet – Report on Grave Clearance at the Lawn Cemetery 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES

(Note: Proposed new appointments are shown in green on this list).

Note: (C) Denotes Chairman
(VC) Denotes Vice-Chairman

STANDARDS COMMITTEE

(Constitution: 6 Members comprising 5 Borough Council Members (to include 
1 Executive Member and 1 non-voting Co-Opted Local Councils Association 
representative)
(ratio 3:1:1)

T.Jackson-Mynott
T.Kingsbury (C)
S.Markiewicz
S.Roberts
S.Thusu

Representative of the Welwyn Hatfield Association of Local Councils
B.Morris

Appendix A

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

(Constitution: 11 Members)
(ratio 6:3:2)

M.Birleson
C.Gillett
S.Kasumu
T.Lyons
S.Markiewicz (C)
G.Michaelides (VC)
H.Quenet
S.Roberts
JP.Skoczylas
S.Thusu
S.Wrenn

Co-opted Members:-
Tenants’ Panel Representatives
J.Corson

Page 10



DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

(Constitution: 13 Members) (may include 1 Cabinet Member, but not as Chairman or 
Vice-Chairman)
(ratio 7:4:2)

J.Boulton (C)
S.Boulton
H.Bromley
J.Caliskan
A.Chesterman
S.Elam
P.Hebden
S.Kasumu
M.Larkins
T.Lyons
S.Markiewicz
P.Shah
S.Wrenn (VC)

 

Page 11



AUDIT COMMITTEE

(Constitution: 7 Members)
(ratio 4:2:1)

J.Boulton
J.Broach
S.Markiewicz (VC)
G.Michaelides (C)
S.Roberts
S.Wrenn
P.Zukowskyj

GRANTS BOARD

(Constitution: 7 Members)
(ratio 4:2:1)

H.Bower

L.Chesterman

S.Elam
J.Fitzpatrick

S.Glick (VC)
R.Lass
S.Markiewicz (C)

MEMBER DEVELOPMENT STEERING GROUP

(Constitution: 4 Members)
(ratio 2:1:1)

R.Lass
JP.Skoczylas
F.Thomson (C)
J.Weston

Page 12



LICENSING COMMITTEE

(Constitution: 7 Members)
(ratio 4:2:1)

J.Caliskan
M.Cook
C.Gillett (C)
G.Hayes
P.Hebden
K.Holman
P.Mabbott (VC)

CONSTITUTION REVIEW GROUP

(Constitution: 7 Members)
(ratio 4:2:1)

M.Cowan
G.Hayes
T.Kingsbury (C)
B.Sarson (VC)
F.Thomson
K.Thorpe
S.Wrenn

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 6

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

QUESTION BY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC

Notice of the following question has been received:-

1. Question from Adam Robertson
 

“My record shows a progressing decline in help and now I'm potentially facing 
homelessness. I'm currently signed from work and pending treatment due to no 
fault of my own. Over this time I have proven I've been miss calculated in 
benefits after much pursuing. I have on record the very people in place to help 
and advice, insulting and abusing their position. During meetings with benefits 
officers I've been told its just a job to them and they don't have to agree with the 
system. I've had to clarify definitions of words that have led to misguidance and 
misinformation.

Does the council have a structured policy which officers follow and could this 
be shared with affected residents?”

2. Question from Rosie Newbigging

“As Labour's Parliamentary Candidate for Welwyn Hatfield, I have been talking 
to local residents and seen the shocking state of local Council/social housing 
in the borough. I have seen evidence of damp, mould, sub standard living 
conditions and health and fire safety at risk. Specifically when will the Council 
deliver the very urgent action plan negotiated with tenant representatives for 
essential upgrading at Queensway House? This includes the fitting of life 
saving fire sprinklers in the tower block. 18 months after the tragedy of Grenfell 
Tower, does the Council agree with me that it is an outrage that these sprinklers 
have not yet been fitted?”

3. Question from Philip Burrows

“We want to know that despite having a secure tenancy with Notting 
Hill/Genesis based on your Development Management Committee meeting last 
month are we going to be allowed to stay, because we have just been ignored 
by the Council and our Landlord.”

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 9

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL MEETING – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE NO. 45 QUESTIONS – QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS 

Notice of the following questions has been received in accordance with Council 
Procedure Rule No 45:-

1. Question to the Executive Member (Housing) from Councillor Rebecca Lass

“You recently mentioned at Special Council that we had received an award and 
a subsequent letter regarding it.  Could more details be provided and an update 
on what the future holds for our Affordable Housing Progamme?”

2. Question to the Leader from Councillor James Broach

“Members will be aware that new HMO regulations came in to force on the 
1 October, bringing in a requirement for a property with 5 or more unrelated 
occupants to be licenced.  Council the relevant Executive Member please confirm 
how many new HMO’s were licenced between the 1 April and 1 October 2018, and 
how many licence HMO’s currently exist in Welwyn Hatfield?”

3. Question to the Leader from Councillor Simon Wrenn

“Given that the budget-setting process for 2019/20 has now started, is the 
Executive Member (Resources) in a position to satisfy members that this 
Council is on track to meet the budget targets for the current financial year, 
2018/19”

4. Question to the Leader from Councillor Lucy Musk

“When I reported a rough sleeper in WGC to the emergency out of hours 
contact number, I was told that no one could come out to see the person in 
question as the Council doesn’t routinely go out to find rough sleepers and the 
homeless person should call themselves.  Thankfully after some persistence 
the young man was found a place to stay.  Homelessness like illness does not 
adhere to the 9 to 5, so what are we doing to provide better access to help, 
specifically out of hours?”

5. Question to the Leader from Councillor Peter Hebden

“We have previously been told about problems caused by youth anti-social 
behavior and in particular how this has impacted upon particular locations 
within the Borough, such as Woodhall shops and Welwyn Garden town centre.  
Could the portfolio holder for community safety please provide an update on 
the current situation locally and how the Community Safety Partnership to 
tackling this important issue.”

Page 17

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 6 November 2018:-

67.1 Adoption of the Welwyn Hatfield Council Statement of Principles Under the 
Gambling Act 2005

The Cabinet considered the Council’s Statement of Principles for a three 
year period commencing on 31 January 2019 as required by section 349 
of the Gambling Act 2005.

Once adopted the Statement of Principles would form part of the decision 
making process for Council Members and Officers in the determination of 
applications for premises licences and permits.  The Statement of 
Principles would also be used by the Courts should they be asked to 
consider an appeal against a Council Committee decision. The Statement 
of Principles followed the prescribed statutory format and was the subject 
of a consultation exercise. The draft Statement of Principles was approved 
for consultation release by the Environment Overview Scrutiny Committee 
at its meeting on 11 June 2018 (Minute 11 refers).

The Cabinet approved the Welwyn Hatfield Council Statement of Principles 
at Appendix 1 to the report and RECOMMENDS its adoption by the Council 
for the next three years commencing on 31 January 2019.

Page 19

Agenda Item 10a



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Kate Payne
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET – 6TH NOVEMBER 2018 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC PROTECTION PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE

ADOPTION OF THE WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL STATEMENT OF PRINCIPLES 
UNDER THE GAMBLING ACT 2005

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report presents and asks Members to recommend adoption of the Council’s 
Statement of Principles (Gambling Act 2005) for a 3-year period commencing 
31st January 2019, as required by section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005.  Once 
adopted the statement of principles will form part of the decision making process 
for Council Members and Officers when they are determining applications for 
premises licences and permits.  The statement of principles will also be used by 
the Courts should they be asked to consider an appeal against a Committee 
decision. The statement of principles follows the prescribed statutory format and 
was the subject of a consultation exercise. The draft statement of principles was 
approved for consultation release by the Environment Overview Scrutiny 
Committee on 11th June 2018 and the Cabinet is now asked to recommend that 
the final policy is approved and forwarded on to Full Council for adoption. 

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For the Cabinet to approve the Welwyn Hatfield Council statement of principles 
at Appendix 1 and recommend its adoption by Full Council for the next 3 years, 
commencing 31st January 2019.

3 Explanation

3.1 The Act established the Gambling Commission to regulate all commercial 
gambling in Great Britain (other than spread betting or the National Lottery). The 
Commission has an overriding obligation to pursue and have regard to the 
licensing objectives and to permit gambling so far as it thinks is reasonably 
consistent with them.

3.2 The Act gives licensing authorities a number of important regulatory functions in     
relation to gambling. These include licensing premises for gambling activities, 
regulating gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises, grant 
permits to family entertainment centres for lower stake gaming machines, grant 
permits for prize gaming and registering small society lotteries. They will also 
acknowledge Temporary use notices, receive occasional use notices and provide 
information to the Gambling Commission regarding details of licences issued.

Page 21



- 2 -

3.3 In connection with the Gambling Act 2005 the Council is obliged to have regard 
to promoting the statutory licensing objectives contained in the Act, namely the 
prevention of gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime and disorder or used to support crime, ensuring that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way and protecting children and other 
vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling. The Council 
statement of principles aims to set out in general terms what policy decisions the 
Council has taken to achieve this aim. The statement of principles is supported 
by the Act, statutory regulations and guidance. 

3.4 A draft statement of principles was prepared and presented to the Environment 
Overview Committee on 11th June 2018. The Committee recommended that the 
policy be consulted upon and was duly released for consultation between 15th 
June and 10th August 2018.

3.5 The statement of principles is at Appendix 1 and a list of persons and 
organisations consulted is given in Appendix B. 

3.6 The draft Gambling Act statement of principles received two responses although 
one was received after the end of the consultation. The first response at 
Appendix 2 was from Gamecare.This response was a generic response sent to 
all local authorities. The points raised relate to producing a risk map of our area 
to highlight both potential and actual risks around gambling venues. It has always 
been our intention to produce such a map which is a separate document to the 
policy and we are collating relevant information. The other points raised by 
Gamcare form part of our licensing inspection programme. Therefore no changes 
to the policy have been made.

3.7 The second response was from the Association of British Bookmakers through 
Gosschalks Solicitors at Appendix 3.The response starts by setting out the ABB’s 
approach in areas relevant to the local authority’s regulation of betting shop 
premises, and its commitment to working with local authorities in partnership. 
The response finishes by highlighting matters within the policy statement which 
the AAB feels may need to be addressed.

3.8 The points raised have been listed at Appendix 4. Some required a slight change 
to wording which was agreed by members and the policy has been altered 
accordingly. Other changes requested that certain bullet points or paragraphs be 
removed. These policy changes were discussed by the environment overview 
and scrutiny committee and it was decided not to make these changes to the 
policy.

3.9 Accordingly the finalised policy is presented for Cabinet approval. Appendix 1. 
Broadly speaking the statement of principles sets out the principles Welwyn 
Hatfield Council proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Gambling 
Act 2005 during each successive three-year period.    

3.10 The Policy must be reviewed and re-adopted every 3 years; however it is 
recognised that extra-ordinary reviews may need to take place in response to 
case law, new guidance or changes in circumstances to which the policy relates.

3.11 Members are asked to note and agree the revised policy incorporating the 
changes as a result of the consultation and recommend the adoption of the 
statement of principles by Full Council. 

Page 22



- 3 -

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 Once adopted Welwyn Hatfield Borough Councils Statement of Principles 
together with the Act, regulations and statutory guidance will provide the initial 
basis upon which decisions under the Gambling Act 2005 are based, and 
considered during any appeal to the Magistrates Court. The statement of 
principles must be reviewed in three years’ time, but may be amended sooner in 
response to a particular local need, case law or new legislation or guidance.

4.2 The Council is at risk of legal challenge if it does not have a licensing policy in 
place, has failed to review its licensing policy or if its policy does not take account 
of  the Secretary of State’s guidance issued under the Gambling Act.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                      

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 None directly arising from this report. Consultation on policy development is a 
normal part of day to day work and allowed for in existing budgets. 

6 Risk Management Implication(s)

6.1 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is required to have a statement of licensing 
policy made under the gambling Act 2005 which is reviewed every 3 years or in 
light of revisions to the guidance. The council is at risk of legal challenge if it does 
not have such a policy in place or if it is not kept up to date. 

6.2 The policy has taken into consideration responses from the consultation and is 
scheduled to be published on time therefore any risk of challenge is low.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 The council has an overarching duty to have due regard to the need to prevent 
people being drawn into terrorism, in the context of this report, there are no 
additional concerns.

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1  None arising directly from this report.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The proposal does not imply an increase in greenhouse gas emissions or water 
use. A limited number of paper polices will be produced as it will be made 

Page 23



- 4 -

available in electronic format. The proposal appears to be resilient to climate 
change and does not require adaptations to be made. 

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 None directly arising from this report. Consultation on policy development is a 
normal part of day to day work and allowed for in existing budgets. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 During the lifetime of this policy, it is our intention to consider local area profiles    
which will set out the local risks and concerns in relation to the licensing 
objectives. These will be available as map overlays in a GIS format. The 
council’s regulatory approach to Gambling Act applications may be influenced by 
the type of premises and/or its position in the borough, for example known issues 
with problem gambling, the interaction between the night time economy and 
gambling and any crime patterns or anti-social behaviour linked to gambling may 
be taken into consideration. In addition the socio economic makeup of the area, 
density of gambling premises and specific types of gambling may also be 
considered.

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 The policy is reviewed every three years and a consultation is carried out with the 
recipients in Appendix A. The policy was also placed in the WGC and Hatfield 
libraries and on the Councils website.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “maintain a 
safe and healthy community” and is linked to statutory requirements under the 
Gambling Act 2005.

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1    An EqIA was completed on 01/06/2006 and no negative impact was identified on 
any of the protected groups under Equalities legislation.

Name of author (Kate Payne 01707 357206)
Title (Licensing Team Leader)
Date (26/09/2018)

Background papers to be listed (if applicable)  

Gambling Act 2005

Page 24



- 5 -

Appendices to be listed 

Appendix 1 – Welwyn Hatfield Council Gambling Act statement of principles

Appendix 2 – Response from Gamcare

Appendix 3 – Response from the Association of British Bookmakers

Appendix 4 – Table of responses from the Association of British Bookmakers

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 46

Page 1 of 46

                                           

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005

Policy for 2019-2022 (Effective from 31st January 2019)
To be published by 3rd January 2019

 

Page 27



Page 2 of 46

Page 2 of 46

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
 Statement of Principles under the Gambling Act 2005

Reviewed 2018

INDEX

Part A

1 The Licensing objectives
1.1 The Licensing Objectives
1.2 Permitting the use of premises

2 Introduction 
2.1 The Borough of Welwyn Hatfield
2.2 Borough Health Profile
2.3 Number of licences
2.4 Preparation of policy
2.5 Premises licences
2.6 Adoption of the policy
2.7 Review of policy

3 Consultation
3.1 Consultation
3.2 Determination of policy
3.3 Availability of draft policy

4 General principles
4.1 Statement
4.2 Determination of Licence
4.3 Temporary or occasional use.
4.4 Conditions
4.5 Other mechanisms
4.6 Discrimination

5 Responsible Authorities
5.1 Protection of children advisory authority
5.2 Designation of local safeguarding children board
5.3 Contact details

6 Interested parties
6.1 Definition
6.2 Principles to be applied
6.3 Associations and other bodies.
6.4 Elected bodies.
6.5 Councillors

7 Types of licence
7.1 Types of Licence
7.2 Licensable Premises and permits
7.3 Relationship with planning policies 

8 Legislation

Page 28



Page 3 of 46

Page 3 of 46

9 Exchange of information
9.1 Functions
9.2 Protocols
9.3 Principles
9.4 Disclosure of details

10 Enforcement
10.1 Statement
10.2 Principles
10.3 Local Area Profiles
10.4 Regulators Code
10.5 Duplication
10.6 Risk based inspections
10.7 Risk assessments
10.8 Compliance
10.9 Better regulation
10.10 Enforcement
10.11 Enforcement Policy

11 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council Functions
11.1 Functions
11.2 Remote gambling
11.3 Delegation of decisions

12 Declaration

 Part B 
Premises licences

1. General Principles
2. Adult Gaming Centres
3. Family Entertainment centres
4. Casinos
5. Bingo Premises
6. Betting Premises
7. Travelling Fairs
8. Provisional statements
9. Reviews
10. Safeguarding against Child Sexual exploitation (CSE)

                                             Part C
Permits/Temporary and Occasional Use Notice

1. Family entertainment centre gaming machine permits
2. Alcohol licensed premises gaming machine permits
3. Prize Gaming permits
4. Club Gaming and Club Machines permits
5. Temporary Use Notices
6. Occasional Use Notices

Appendix A Plan of Borough
Appendix B List of consultees
Appendix C Table of Delegation

Page 29



Page 4 of 46

Page 4 of 46

Appendix D Glossary of terms
This draft Statement of Licensing Principles was approved for consultation by 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council on 11th June 2018 and the final policy was 
approved by Full Council on ‘tbc’.
All references to the Guidance refers to the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities 5th Edition, Published September 2015. 
Sections 17 18 and 19 updated September 2016.
This statement will provide a vision for the local area and a statement of intent 
that guides practice.

The council recognises the potential value of gambling local area profiles and 
the assistance these profiles could give licensees in preparing their own 
statutory gambling risk assessments. Although not available at the 
commencement of this policy, the council commits to work with key 
stakeholders (including the local gambling industry) to develop these profiles 
during the lifetime of this policy. The local area profile(s) will therefore be a 
standalone document, to be read alongside this statement of principles. 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is the licensing authority for the Gambling 
Act within the borough and throughout this document the term “the council” 
refers to the council in this regard, unless otherwise stipulated. 

Page 30



Page 5 of 46

Page 5 of 46

Part A

1. The Licensing Objectives

1.1. In exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005, 
licensing authorities must have regard to the licensing objectives as set 
out in section 1 of the Act.  The licensing objectives are:

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, 
being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way
 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being 

harmed or exploited by gambling

It should be noted that the Gambling Commission has stated: “The 
requirement in relation to children is explicitly to protect them from being 
harmed or exploited by gambling”.  

1.2. The Council will not have regard to demand when deciding whether or 
not to grant a premises licence and is aware that in making decisions 
about premises licences it should aim to permit the use of premises for 
gambling in so far as it thinks it:

(i) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 
Gambling Commission

(ii) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission 

(iii) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to 
(i) and (ii) and

(iv) in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 
(subject to (i), (ii) and (iii).

2. Introduction

2.1. Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is situated centrally in the County of 
Hertfordshire, which contains ten District/Borough Councils in total.  The 
Council area has a population of 122,000 in the latest  (mid – 2016) 
estimate an increase of approximately 10.4% since the 2011 Census 
making it the fifth largest in the County in terms of population. The 
Council area covers an area of approximately 130 square kilometres and 
is mainly rural with two central residential and commercial centres of 
Hatfield and Welwyn Garden City and numerous rural villages. These 
areas are shown in the map at Appendix A. 
Welwyn Garden City is the largest town in the borough with around 42% 
of the borough’s total population and Hatfield is slightly smaller with 
around 34 % of the borough’s population. Both towns have a wide range 
of retail and services serving both the towns themselves and the wider 
local area, as well as large regionally – significant employment areas 

Page 31



Page 6 of 46

Page 6 of 46

with a particular prevalence of large businesses and national 
headquarters. Hatfield is also home to the two main campuses of the 
University of Hertfordshire, giving the town a notable student population.

2.2. The borough health profile shows that the borough’s health is generally 
better than the English average. About 15% of children live in low income 
families. Life expectancy for both men and women is higher than the 
England average. The rates of alcohol-related harm and self-harm 
hospital stays are better than average for England. Rates of statutory 
homelessness, violent crime and long term unemployment are better 
than average. Local profiles involve reducing obesity and increasing 
physical activity in adults, reducing smoking, and helping the growing 
older population maintain their health.

2.3    As at January 2018  the number of licences, permits and registrations are 
as follows.

 Nil casinos
 Nil bingo clubs 
 15 licensed betting offices
 About 140 alcohol premises and regulated clubs (who may 

request a grant or renewal of gaming machine permits)
 About 50 Small Society Lotteries

2.4 The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council to prepare and publish a 
“Statement of Licensing Policy” that sets out the principles that the 
Council will apply  in exercising their functions under the Act while having 
regard to the licensing objectives.  This policy statement must be 
published at least every three years.  The policy statement must also be 
reviewed from “time to time” and any amended parts re-consulted upon.  
The statement must then be re-published.

2.5 Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council is the Licensing Authority under the 
Gambling Act 2005 and is responsible for granting premises licences in 
the Borough of Welwyn Hatfield in respect of: -

 Casino premises;
 Bingo premises;
 Betting premises, including tracks;
 Adult Gaming Centres;
 Family Entertainment Centres

2.6 This “Statement of Licensing Policy” has been prepared having regard 
to the provisions of the Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 
and the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 2005.  It is intended to 
be a discussion document leading to adoption by The Council of a formal 

Page 32



Page 7 of 46

Page 7 of 46

Statement of Licensing Policy, after having due regard to any responses 
from those consulted on the policy statement.

2.7 The revised policy will come into effect on the date of adoption by the 
Council and will be reviewed as necessary, and at least every three 
years from the date of adoption.

3 Consultation

3.1 The consultation took place between 12th June and 10th August 
2018…and we followed where practicable the government’s consultation 
principles (published January 2016) which is available at:

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_d
ata/file/492132/20160111_Consultation_principles_final.pdf

The Gambling Act requires that the following parties are consulted by 
licensing authorities.

 The Chief Officer of Police
 One or more persons who appear to the authority represent the 

interests of persons carrying on gambling businesses in the 
authority’s area

 One or more persons who appear to the authority to represent the 
interests of persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise 
of the authority’s functions under the Gambling Act 2005

The Council consulted widely upon this policy statement before finalising 
and publishing it.  A list of the persons with whom we consulted is 
provided at Appendix B.  

3.2 In determining the policy, the Council must have regard to the Guidance 
and give appropriate weight to the views of those it has consulted. In 
determining what weight to give particular representations the factors to 
be taken into account will include;

 Who is making the representation (what is their expertise or 
interest);

 How many other people have expressed the same or similar 
views;

 Relevance of the factors to the licensing objectives
 How far the representations relate to matters that the Council 

have included in its policy statement.
 Licensing authorities can only consider matters within the scope 

of the Guidance, Act and Codes of Practice.

Should you have any comments as regards this policy statement please 
send them via e-mail or letter to the following contact:

Licensing Team Leader

Page 33



Page 8 of 46

Page 8 of 46

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council
Council Offices
The Campus
WGC
Hertfordshire
AL8 6AE

E-mail: k.payne@welhat.gov.uk

It should be noted that this policy statement does not override the right 
of any person to make an application, make representations about an 
application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each will be considered 
on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the 
Gambling Act 2005.  

3.3 The formal Statement of Licensing Policy is available on the Council’s 
website or by request as an email, or a hard copy can be viewed at the 
Council Offices or Welwyn Garden City and Hatfield public libraries.

The full list of comments made and the consideration by the Council of 
those comments will be available by request to: Licensing Team Leader, 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, The Campus, Welwyn Garden City, 
Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE.

4 General principles

4.1 Nothing in this Statement of Policy will:-

 Undermine the rights of any person to apply under the Act for a 
variety of permissions and have the application considered on its 
individual merits; OR

 Override the right of any person to make representations on any 
application or seek a review of a licence or permit where they are 
permitted to do so under the Act.

The starting point in determining applications will be to grant the 
application without conditions.  Conditions will only be considered where 
they are necessary, and any conditions applied will not be overly 
onerous and will be proportionate to the scale of the application and the 
risks involved.  Conditions will generally be considered unnecessary if 
they are already adequately covered by other legislation.

4.2 All applicants for Premises Licences are encouraged to set out how they 
will  have regard to the licensing objectives, as specified in section 1 
above, and what measures they intend to employ to ensure compliance 
with them. When determining an application to grant a Premises Licence 
or review a Premises Licence, regard will be had amongst other things 
to the proximity of the premises to schools, vulnerable adult centres or 

Page 34



Page 9 of 46

Page 9 of 46

residential areas where there may be a high concentration of families 
with children.  The proximity of premises taken into consideration will 
vary depending on the size and scope of the gambling premises 
concerned.  Each case will, however, be decided on its merits.  
Therefore, if an applicant can effectively demonstrate how they might 
overcome licensing objective concerns, this will be taken into account. 
Local area profiles may be used to aid applicants when writing their risk 
assessments.

4.3 Licensing is about the control of licensed premises, and premises with 
permits, temporary use notices, occasional use notices or other 
exemptions within the terms of the Act. Where permitted by the Act, 
conditions may be attached to authorisations that will cover matters that 
are within the control of individual licensees. Conditions may be 
incorporated because they are mandatory or default conditions imposed 
by the Secretary of State, because they are incorporated by the Act itself, 
or because they are imposed in the individual case by the Council.

4.4 When considering any conditions to be attached to licences or permits, 
the Council will focus amongst other things on the licensing objectives, 
and on the direct impact of the activities taking place at licensed 
premises on members of the public living, working or engaged in normal 
activity in the area concerned.  The Secretary of State may by regulation 
provide for specified conditions to be attached to a premises licence as 
either “mandatory” or “default” conditions.  In determining an application 
for a premises licence the Council may not have regard to the expected 
demand for the facilities that are proposed.

4.5 The Council recognises that, apart from the licensing function, there are 
a number of other mechanisms available for addressing issues of unruly 
behaviour that can occur away from licensed premises, including:-

(a) Planning controls;
(b) Ongoing measures to create a safe and clean environment in 

these areas in partnership with local businesses, transport 
operators and other Council departments;

(c) Regular liaison with the Police on law enforcement issues 
regarding disorder and anti-social behaviour;

(d) The power of the Police, other responsible authorities or local 
residents and businesses to seek a review of the licence.

Objectors should generally relate their objection to the specific 
application, rather than to gambling as a whole. Usually, objections will 
be concerned with one of more of the Licensing Objectives, as specified 
in section 1 above. 

4.6 The Council, in undertaking its licensing function, will have due regard 
to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination.

Page 35



Page 10 of 46

Page 10 of 46

5 Responsible Authorities

5.1 The Council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply 
in exercising its powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 
writing, a body which is competent to advise the authority about the 
protection of children from harm.  The principles are:

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the 
whole of the Council’s area

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically 
elected persons, rather than any particular vested interest group 

5.2 In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities this authority designates the Hertfordshire Local 
Safeguarding Children Board for this purpose.

5.3 The contact details of all the Responsible Bodies under the Gambling         
Act 2005 are available via the Council’s website at: www.welhat.gov.uk 
There is no obligation on responsible authorities to respond to 
applications for premises licences if they do not wish to do so.

6 Interested parties

6.1 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, 
or apply for a review of an existing licence.  These parties are defined in 
the Gambling Act 2005 as follows:

“For the purposes of this Part a person is an interested party in relation 
to an application for or in respect of a premises licence if, in the opinion 
of the Licensing Authority which issues the licence or to which the 
applications is made, the person-

a) lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities,

b) has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities, or

c) represents persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b)”

6.2 The Council is required by regulations to state the principles it will apply 
in exercising its powers under the Gambling Act 2005 to determine 
whether a person is an interested party.  The principles are as follows.

Each case will be decided upon its merits.  This authority will not apply 
a rigid rule to its decision making.  It will consider the examples of 
considerations provided in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
local authorities at 8.12 to 8.17.  These may include amongst other 
things:

 The size of the premises;
 The nature of the premises;
 The distance of the premises from the location of the person 

making the representation;

Page 36

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/


Page 11 of 46

Page 11 of 46

 The potential impact of the premises (e.g. number of customers, 
routes likely to be taken by those visiting the establishment); and

 The circumstances of the complainant in so much as the effect 
could have a different meaning for different types of premises. 
E.g. a private residence, a school with truanting problems, a home 
for vulnerable persons.

6.3 The Gambling Commission has recommended that the Council state 
that interested parties could include bodies such as trade associations, 
trade unions, residents and tenants’ associations provided they satisfy 
the definition of an interested party in section 158 of the Act. In other 
cases the Council will probably wish to satisfy themselves on a case by 
case basis, and possibly request written evidence, that a person does 
represent interested parties; for example a school head or governor 
might act in representing the interests of pupils or parents and a 
community group might represent vulnerable people living near to the 
proposed premises.

6.4 Interested parties can be persons who are democratically elected such 
as Councillors and MP’s. Where appropriate this will include county, 
parish and town councillors. Other than these persons, the Council will 
require written evidence that a person ‘represents’ someone who either 
lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 
authorities activities and/or business interests that might be affected by 
the authorised activities.  A letter from one of these persons, requesting 
the representation is sufficient.

6.5 If individuals wish to approach Councillors to ask them to represent their 
views then care should be taken that the Councillors are not part of the 
Licensing Committee dealing with the licence application.  If there are 
any doubts then please contact the licensing department at Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council, The Campus, WGC, Hertfordshire, AL8 6AE

7  Licences

7.1 This document sets out the policies that the Council will apply when 
making decisions upon applications or notifications made for: -

 Premises Licences
 Temporary Use Notices;
 Permits as required under the Act
 Registrations as required under the Act

7.2 This policy relates to all those licensable premises, notices, permits and 
registrations identified as falling within the provisions of the Act, namely: 
-

 Casinos;
 Bingo premises

Page 37



Page 12 of 46

Page 12 of 46

 Betting premises
 Tracks
 Adult Gaming Centres;
 Family Entertainment Centres
 Club gaming permits
 Prize Gaming and Prize Gaming Permits
 Temporary Use Notices;
 Registration of small society lotteries

7.3 When determining an application for a premises licence, the Council 
cannot take into account “irrelevant matters” such as the likelihood of the 
applicant obtaining planning permission or building control approval, or 
the expected demand for facilities.
An applicant can apply for a “provisional statement” if the building is not 
complete or if he does not yet have a right to occupy it.  Such an 
application is, however, a separate and distinct process to the granting 
of planning permission or building control approval.

8 Legislation

8.1 In undertaking its licensing function under the Gambling Act 2005, the 
Council is also bound by other legislation, including:-

(a) Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1988;
(b) Human Rights Act 1998;
(c) The Equality Act 2010

However, the policy is not intended to duplicate existing legislation and 
regulatory regimes that already place obligations on employers and 
operators, including, for example, the Health and Safety at Work Act 
1974.

9 Exchange of Information

9.1 Licensing authorities are required to include in their policy statements,
the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising the functions 
under sections 29 and 30 of the Act with respect to the exchange of 
information between it and the Gambling Commission, and the functions 
under section 350 of the Act with respect to the exchange of information 
between it and other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act.

9.2 Should any protocols be established with regard to information exchange 
with other bodies then they will be made available.  In exchanging such 
information, the Council will conform to the requirements of data 
protection and freedom of information legislation in accordance with the 

Page 38



Page 13 of 46

Page 13 of 46

Council’s existing policies. Subject access requests can be made in 
writing and will be dealt with in accordance with current WHBC policies.

9.3 The Council will act in accordance with the provisions of the Gambling 
Act 2005 in its exchange of information and where appropriate adhere to 
Data Protection requirements.  The Council will also have regard to any 
Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission to Local Authorities on 
this matter, as well as any relevant Regulations issued by the Secretary 
of State under the powers provided in the Gambling Act 2005.

9.4 Details of those persons making representations will be made available 
to applicants to allow for their preparation for negotiation or a hearing 
and, in the event of a hearing being held, will form part of a public 
document.  Anyone making representations or applying for the review of 
a premises licence will be informed that their details will be disclosed.

10  Enforcement and inspection functions

10.1 Licensing authorities are required by regulation under the Gambling Act    
2005 to state the principles to be applied by the authority in exercising 
the functions under Part 15 of the Act with respect to the inspection of 
premises; and the powers under section 346 of the Act to institute 
criminal proceedings in respect of the offences specified.

10.2 The Council’s principles are that: it will be guided by the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities. In line with the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities and the 
Council corporate enforcement policy, it will endeavour to be:

 Proportionate: regulators should only intervene when 
necessary:  remedies should be appropriate to the risk posed, and 
costs identified and minimised;

 Accountable:  regulators must be able to justify decisions, and 
be subject to public scrutiny;

 Consistent:  rules and standards must be joined up and 
implemented fairly;

 Transparent:  regulators should be open, and keep regulations 
simple and user friendly; and

 Targeted:  regulation should be focused on the problem, and 
minimise side effects 

The Gambling commissions ‘Licensing Conditions and codes of practise      
2015 (LCCP) strengthened the social responsibility code (SR) requirements 
and included the requirement to produce a risk assessment on individual 
premises. Such risk assessments are required from new applicants, and from 
existing premises licensees seeking to vary a licence. The code requires  all 
operators of; Casino’s, AGC’s, Bingo Premises, FEC’s, Betting shops and 
remote betting intermediaries to assess local risks to the licensing objectives, 

Page 39



Page 14 of 46

Page 14 of 46

and to have policies, procedures and control measures in place to mitigate 
those risks. 
 
Operators are required by the SR code to make the risk assessment available 
to licensing authorities when an application is submitted either for new 
Premises Licence or variation of a Premises Licence, or otherwise on request, 
and this will form part of the Licensing Authority’s inspection regime and may 
be requested when officers are investigating complaints. 
 
The code requires the Licensing Authority to set out matters they expect the 
operator to take account of in the risk assessment in its statement of policy 
and this Licensing Authority will expect the local risk assessment to consider 
as a minimum the  following. 
 
• Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 
underage gambling,  
• Gaming trends that may reflect benefit payments 
• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions 
and gaming trends. 
• Urban setting such as proximity to schools, playgrounds, leisure/community 
centres and other areas where children will gather, 
 • Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other 
gambling outlets, banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type 
facilities  
• Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, 
youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities, other 
crime and/ or disorder. 
The demographics of the area in relation to vulnerable groups and how they 
are to be protected.
 
 
The Licensing Authority would recommend that the following matters are 
considered by operators when making their risk assessment. 
 
Matters relating to children and young persons, including; 
• Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons 
should be expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and 
entertainment venues such as bowling allies, cinemas etc.
 • Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, café’s, shops, 
and any other place where children are attracted, 
• Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in anti social 
behaviour, including such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking, etc. 
• Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling  
 
Matters relating to vulnerable adults, including;
 • Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 
underage gambling,  
• Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days 
or benefit payments 

Page 40



Page 15 of 46

Page 15 of 46

• Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions 
and gaming trends. 
• Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such 
as hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctor’s surgeries, 
council housing offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol 
or drug dependant people may congregate, etc.  
 
Other issues that may be considered could include: Matters of faith, including 
all religious or faith denominations including proximity to churches, mosques, 
temples or any other place of worship. 
 
This list is not exhaustive and other factors not in this list that are identified 
must be taken into consideration

10.3 During the lifetime of this policy, it is our intention to consider local area 
profiles which will set out the local risks and concerns in relation to the 
licensing objectives. These will be available as map overlays in a GIS 
format.

The council’s regulatory approach to Gambling Act applications may be 
influenced by the type of premises and/or its position in the borough, for 
example known issues with problem gambling, the interaction between 
the night time economy and gambling and any crime patterns or anti 
social behaviour linked to gambling may be taken into consideration. In 
addition the socio economic makeup of the area, density of gambling 
premises and specific types of gambling may also be considered.

10.4 This Council recognises the Department for Business Innovation and 
Skills’ “Regulators Code” which came into force on 6th April 2014, and its 
standards have been integrated into our regulatory service standards 
and our corporate enforcement policy.

10.5 With regard to the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities the Council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other 
regulatory regimes so far as possible.  

10.6 The Council will also, as recommended by the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance for Local Authorities, adopt a risk-based inspection 
programme.  Premises will be assessed and those that are well 
managed and maintained will not require the same number of 
inspections as problem or high-risk premises. In determining the level of 
risk this authority would be interested to hear from persons who have an 
opinion on what criteria should be used to identify the level of risk. 
Applicants should be aware of the ‘Code of practice for gaming machines 
in clubs and premises with an alcohol licence’ and adherence to the code 
will be monitored during risk rated inspections.

10.7 The inspection of operator’s risk assessments will also take place during 
inspections or at any other time that it is requested by the licensing 
authority. As the licensing authority, the Council would also expect data 

Page 41



Page 16 of 46

Page 16 of 46

on test purchasing, self exclusions and underage attempts to gamble to 
be shared on request following concerns having been raised with regard 
to an establishment.

10.8 The main enforcement and compliance role for the Council in terms of 
the Gambling Act 2005 will be to ensure compliance with the Premises 
Licences and other permissions that it authorises.  The Gambling 
Commission will be the enforcement body for the Operator and Personal 
Licences.  It is also worth noting that concerns about manufacture, 
supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt with by Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council but will be notified to the Gambling 
Commission.  

10.9 .

10.10 The Council intends to use appropriate enforcement  and will ensure 
adequate resources are available to do this.   Once licensed, it is 
essential that premises are monitored to ensure that they are run in 
accordance with their operating schedules, in compliance with the 
specific requirements of the Act and in compliance with any licence 
conditions.  It will also be important to monitor the Borough for unlicensed 
premises.

10.11 The Council’s enforcement policy  available upon request to the 
licensing department at  Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council, The Council 
Offices, The Campus, WGC, Hertfordshire AL8 6AE. Or on the council 
internet site at http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/1281/Governance

11. Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council functions

11.1 Licensing Authorities are required under the Act to:
 Be responsible for the licensing of premises where gambling 

activities are to take place by issuing Premises Licences 

 Issue Provisional Statements 

 Regulate members’ clubs and miners’ welfare institutes who wish 
to undertake certain gaming activities via issuing Club Gaming 
Permits and/or Club Machine Permits 

 Issue Club Machine Permits to Commercial Clubs 

 Grant permits for the use of certain lower stake gaming machines 
at unlicensed Family Entertainment Centres 

 Receive notifications from alcohol licensed premises (under the 
Licensing Act 2003) of the use of two or fewer gaming machines 

 Grant Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permits for premises 
licensed to sell/supply alcohol for consumption on the licensed 
premises, under the Licensing Act 2003, where more than two 
machines are required 

Page 42

http://www.welhat.gov.uk/article/1281/Governance


Page 17 of 46

Page 17 of 46

 Register small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds 

 Issue Prize Gaming Permits 

 Receive and Endorse Temporary Use Notices
 

 Receive Occasional Use Notices 

 Provide information to the Gambling Commission regarding 
details of licences issued (see section above on ‘information 
exchange)

 Maintain registers of the permits and licences that are issued 
under these functions

11.2 It should be noted that local licensing authorities would not be involved 
in licensing remote gambling at all.  This will fall to the Gambling 
Commission via Operator Licences. The Gambling Commission will also 
issue personal licences.

12. Some decisions that are delegated to the Licensing Committee may be 
further delegated to a sub – committee of the Licensing Committee who 
may arrange for them to be taken by an officer of the authority. A 
summary of permitted delegations is at Appendix C.

12 Declaration

12.1 In producing the final licensing policy statement, the Council declares 
that it has had regard to the licensing objectives of the Gambling Act 
2005, the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission, and any 
responses from those consulted on the policy statement.

Page 43



Page 18 of 46

Page 18 of 46

PART B
Premises Licences

1. General Principles 

Premises Licences will be subject to the requirements set out in the Gambling 
Act 2005 and regulations, as well as specific mandatory and default conditions 
which will be detailed in regulations issued by the Secretary of State.  Licensing 
authorities are able to exclude default conditions and also attach others, where 
it is believed to be proportionate and relevant.

Risk assessment

The Council expects both applicants and licensees to undertake local risk 
assessments to identify risks to the licensing objectives posed by the general 
location and by the provision of facilities in the premises concerned, and then 
to propose and implement measures to mitigate those risks. Licensees should 
share their risk assessment with licensing authorities when applying for a 
premises licence or applying for a variation to existing licensed premises, or 
otherwise on request.

In particular:

1 Licensees must assess the local risks to the licensing objectives posed by the 
provision of gambling facilities at each of their premises, and have policies, 
procedures and control measures to mitigate those risks. In making risk 
assessments, licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in 
this licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy and any local area profiles 
published by the Council.
2 Licensees must review (and update as necessary) their local risk 
assessments:
a to take account of significant changes in local circumstances, including any 
identified in this policy;
b when there are significant changes at a licensee’s premises that may affect 
their mitigation of local risks;
c when applying for a variation of a premises licence; and
d in any case, undertake a local risk assessment when applying for a new 
premises licence.

Decision making
The Council is aware that in making decisions about premises licences it should 
aim to permit the use of premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:
(i) in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission
(ii) in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission 
(iii) reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives (subject to (i) and (ii)) 
and
(iv) in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy (subject to 
(i) – (iii))

Page 44



Page 19 of 46

Page 19 of 46

In making such determinations, the Council will have regard to risk 
assessments prepared by the applicant in accordance with this policy.

It is appreciated that in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s Guidance 
to Licensing Authorities “moral objections to gambling are not a valid reason to 
reject applications for premises licences” (except as regards any ‘no casino 
resolution’) and also that unmet demand is not a criterion for the Council to 
consider.

Definition of Premises
In the Act “premises” is defined as including “any place”.  Different premises 
licences cannot apply in respect of single premises at different times.  However, 
it is possible for a single building to be subject to more than one premises 
licence, provided they are for different parts of the building and the different 
parts of the building can reasonably be regarded as being different premises. 
This approach has been taken to allow large multiple unit premises to obtain 
discreet premises licences, where appropriate safeguards are in place. In the 
case of sub divisions of a single building or plot mandatory conditions relating 
to access between premises will be observed.

The Gambling Commission states in the fifth edition of its Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities that; “in most cases the expectation is that a single storey building/ 
plot will be the subject of an application for a licence for example 32 High Street. 
But that does not mean that 32 High Street cannot be the subject of separate 
premises licences for the basement and ground floor, if they are configured 
acceptably. Whether different parts of a building can properly be regarded as 
being separate will depend on the circumstances. The location of the premises 
will clearly be an important consideration and the suitability of the division is 
likely to be a matter for discussion between the operator and the licensing 
officer. However the Commission does not consider that areas of a building that 
are artificially or temporarily separated, for example by ropes or moveable 
partitions, can properly be regarded as different premises.”

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council takes particular note of the Gambling 
Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities which states that; licensing 
authorities should take particular care in considering applications for multiple 
licences for a building and those relating to a discreet part of a building used 
for other non-gambling purposes. In particular they should be aware of the 
following:

 The third licensing objective seeks to protect children from being harmed 
by gambling. In practice that means not only preventing them from taking 
part in gambling, but also preventing them from being in close proximity 
to gambling. Therefore premises should be configured so that children 
are not invited to participate in, have accidental access to or closely 
observe gambling where they are prohibited from participating.

 Entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by one or more 
licences should be separate and identifiable so that the separation of 
different premises is not compromised and that people do not ‘drift’ into 
a gambling area. In this context it should normally be possible to access 

Page 45



Page 20 of 46

Page 20 of 46

the premises without going through other licensed premises or premises 
with a permit.

 Customers should be able to participate in the activity named on the 
premises licence.

The Guidance also gives a list of factors which the Council should be aware 
of, which may include;

 Do the premises have a separate registration for business rates?
 Is the premises’ neighbouring premises owned by the same person 

or someone else?
 Can each of the premises be accessed from the street or a public 

passageway?
 Can the premises only be accessed from any other gambling 

premises?

This authority will consider these and other relevant factors in making its 
decision, depending on all the circumstances of the case. In particular, the fact 
that an adequate architectural separation is proposed will not be conclusive as 
to whether two premises are thereby created. In all cases, the authority will 
consider whether the proposal can genuinely and sensibly be regarded as 
multiple rather than single premises.

The Gambling Commission’s relevant access provisions for each 
premises type are reproduced below.

Casinos
 The principal access/entrance to the premises must be from a 

street (as defined at paragraph 7.23 of the Guidance)
 No entrance to a casino must be from premises that are used 

wholly or mainly by children and/or young persons
 No customer must be able to enter a casino directly from any 

other premises which hold a gambling premises licence.

Adult Gaming Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from 

any other licensed gambling premises.

Betting Shops
 Access must be from a street (para 7.23 Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities) or from another premises with a betting premises 
licence.

 No direct access from a betting shop to another premises used 
for the retail sale of merchandise or services. In effect there 
cannot be an entrance to a betting shop from a shop of any kind 
and it is not permissible to have a betting shop at the back of a 
café- the whole area would have to be licensed.

Bingo premises
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:

Page 46



Page 21 of 46

Page 21 of 46

 a casino
 an adult gaming centre
 a betting premises, other than a track

Family Entertainment Centre
 No customer must be able to access the premises directly from:
 a casino
 an adult gaming centre
 a betting premises, other than a track

Part 7 of the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing Authorities 
contains further guidance on this issue, which this authority will also take into 
account in its decision making.

Premises “ready for gambling”
The Guidance states that a licence to use a premises for gambling should only 
be issued in relation to premises that the Council can be satisfied are going to 
be ready to be used for gambling in the reasonably near future, consistent with 
the scale of building or alteration required before the premises are brought into 
use.

If the construction of a premises is not yet complete, or if they need alteration, 
or if the applicant does not yet have the right to occupy them, then an 
application for a provisional licence should be made instead. Part 11 of the 
Guidance gives more information about provisional statements.

In deciding whether a premises licence can be granted where there are 
outstanding construction or alteration works at a premises, this authority will 
determine applications on their merits, applying a two stage consideration 
process:-

 First, whether the premises ought to be permitted to be used for 
gambling

 Second, whether appropriate conditions can be put in place to 
cater for the situation that the premises are not yet in the state in 
which they ought to be before gambling takes place.

Applicants should note that whilst the Council is entitled to decide that it is 
appropriate to grant a licence (subject to conditions) it is not however obliged 
to grant such a licence.

More detailed examples of the circumstances in which such a licence may be 
granted can be found at paragraphs 7.58-7.65 of the guidance.

Location
The Council is aware that demand issues cannot be considered with regard to 
the location of premises licences but that considerations in terms of the 
licensing objectives can.  In accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities, this authority will pay particular attention to 
the protection of children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling, as well as issues of crime and disorder.  Should any 

Page 47



Page 22 of 46

Page 22 of 46

specific policy be decided upon as regards areas where gambling premises 
should not be located, this policy statement will be updated.  It should be noted 
that any such policy does not preclude any application being made and each 
application will be decided on its merits, with the onus upon the applicant 
showing how the concerns can be overcome.  

Planning
The Gambling Commission Guidance to Licensing Authorities states at 
paragraph 7.58 “In determining licence applications [The Council] should not 
take into consideration matters that are not related to gambling and the 
licensing objectives. One example would be the likelihood of the applicant 
obtaining planning permission or building regulations approval for their 
proposal. 

The Council will not take into account irrelevant matters in accordance with the 
above guidance. In addition this authority notes the following excerpt from the 
guidance.

The guidance at 7.65 states “when dealing with a premises licence application 
for finished buildings, the licensing authority should not take into account 
whether those buildings have or comply with the necessary planning or building 
consents nor should fire or health and safety risks be taken into account. Those 
matters should be dealt with under relevant planning control, building and other 
regulations, and must not form part of the consideration for the premises 
licence. Section 210 of the 2005 Act prevents licensing authorities taking into 
account the likelihood of the proposal by the applicant obtaining planning or 
building consent when considering a premises licence application. Equally the 
grant of a gambling premises licence does not prejudice or prevents any action 
that may be appropriate under the law relating to planning or building.”
Duplication with other regulatory regimes
The Council will seek to avoid any duplication with other statutory / regulatory 
systems where possible, including planning.  In considering applications for 
premises licences, this authority will not consider whether the premises are 
likely to be awarded planning or building consent. This authority will listen to, 
and consider carefully, any concerns about conditions, which cannot be met by 
licensees due to planning restrictions, should such a situation arise.

When dealing with a premises licence for finished buildings, this authority will 
not take into account whether those buildings have to comply with the 
necessary planning or building consents. Fire or health and safety risks will not 
be taken into account, as these matters are dealt with under relevant planning 
control, buildings and other regulations and must not form part of the 
consideration for the premises licence.

Licensing objectives
Premises licences granted must be reasonably consistent with the licensing 
objectives.  With regard to these objectives, The Council has considered the 
Gambling Commission’s Guidance to local authorities and some comments are 
made below.

Page 48



Page 23 of 46

Page 23 of 46

Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime – 
This licensing authority is aware that the Gambling Commission will be taking 
a leading role in preventing gambling from being a source of crime.  The 
Gambling Commission's Guidance does however envisage that licensing 
authorities should pay attention to the proposed location of gambling premises 
in terms of this licensing objective.  Thus, where an area has known high levels 
of organised crime this authority will consider carefully whether gambling 
premises are suitable to be located there and whether conditions may be 
suitable such as the provision of door supervisors.  This licensing authority is 
aware of the distinction between disorder and nuisance and will consider factors 
such as whether police assistance was required and how threatening the 
behaviour was to those who could see it, so as to make that distinction.  

Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 
The Council has noted that the Gambling Commission in paragraph 5.11 of its 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities has stated that “Generally the Commission 
would not expect licensing authorities to find themselves dealing with issues  of 
fairness and openness frequently. Fairness and openness is likely to be a 
matter for either the way specific gambling products are provided and therefore 
subject to the operating licence , or will be in relation to the suitability and 
actions of an individual and therefore subject to the personal licence.” However, 
if this authority suspects that gambling is not being carried out in a fair and open 
way this will be brought to the attention of the Gambling Commission.  For local 
authorities with tracks there is more of a role which does not currently form part 
of this policy.

Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling -
The Council has noted the Gambling Commission’s Guidance that this objective 
means preventing children taking part in gambling (as well as restriction of 
advertising so that gambling products are not aimed at or are, particularly 
attractive to children). The licensing authority will therefore consider, as 
suggested in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance, whether specific 
measures are required at particular premises, with regard to this licensing 
objective. Appropriate measures may include supervision of entrances/ 
machines, segregation of areas etc.

This licensing authority is also aware of the Gambling Commission Codes of 
Practice as regards this licensing objective, in relation to specific premises.

As regards the term “vulnerable persons” it is noted that the Gambling 
Commission does not seek to offer a definition but states that “it will for 
regulatory purposes assume that this group includes people who gamble more 
than they want to; people who gamble beyond their means; and people who 
may not be able to make informed or balanced decisions about gambling due 
to a mental impairment, alcohol or drugs.” Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 
will consider this licensing objective on a case by case basis.

Page 49



Page 24 of 46

Page 24 of 46

Conditions – Any conditions attached to licences will be proportionate and will 
be:

 Relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility;

 Directly related to the premises (including the locality and any 
identified local risks) and the type of licence applied forand the 
type of licence applied for;

 Fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; 
and

 Reasonable in all other respects.

Decisions on individual conditions will be made on a case by case basis, 
although there will be a number of measures this licensing authority will 
consider utilising should there be a perceived need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate signage for adult only areas etc. There are specific 
comments made in this regard under some of the licence types below. This 
licensing authority will also expect the licence applicant to offer his/her own 
suggestions as to the way in which the licensing objectives can be met 
effectively.

The Council will also consider specific measures which may be required for 
buildings which are subject to multiple premises licences. With the exception of 
bingo clubs, tracks on race days and licensed FECs children will not be 
permitted to enter licensed gambling premises. Therefore businesses will need 
to consider carefully how they wish to configure their buildings if they are 
seeking to develop multi-purpose sites. The third licensing objective seeks to 
protect children from being harmed or exploited by gambling. In practise this 
means not only preventing them from taking part in gambling, but also prevents 
them from being in close proximity to gambling. Therefore premises should be 
configured so that children are not invited to participate in, have accidental 
access to or closely observe gambling where they are prohibited from 
participating. Such measures may include the supervision of entrances which 
must be distinct for each type of premises; segregation of gambling from non- 
gambling areas frequented by children; and the supervision of gaming 
machines in non adult gaming specific premises in order to pursue the licensing 
objectives. These matters are in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance.

The Council will also ensure that where category C or above machines are on 
offer in premises to which children are admitted:

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises which 
is separated from the remainder of the premises by a physical 
barrier which is effective to prevent access other than through a 
designated entrance;

 only adults are admitted to the area where these machines are 
located; 

 access to the area where the machines are located is 
supervised to ensure children cannot enter; 

Page 50



Page 25 of 46

Page 25 of 46

 the area where these machines are located is arranged so that it 
can be observed by the staff or the licence holder either within 
sight or monitored by CCTV; and

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are 
prominently displayed notices indicating that access to the area 
is prohibited to persons under 18. 

These conditions will apply to premises including buildings where multiple 
premises licences are applicable.

It is noted that there are conditions, which the Council cannot attach to 
premises licences which are:

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible 
to comply with an operating licence condition 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or 
method of operation;

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be 
required (the Gambling Act  2005 specifically removes the 
membership requirement for casino and bingo clubs and this 
provision prevents it being reinstated and

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winning or prizes

Door Supervisors - The Gambling Commission advises in its Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities that if a licensing authority is concerned that a premises 
may attract disorder or be subject to attempts at unauthorised access (for 
example by children and young persons) then it may require that the entrances 
to the premises are controlled by a door supervisor, and is entitled to impose a 
condition on a premises licence to this effect.

Where it is decided that supervision of entrances/machines is appropriate for 
particular cases a consideration of whether these need to be SIA licensed or 
not will be necessary. It will not be automatically assumed that they need to be 
licensed, as the statutory requirements for different types of premises vary 
(Guidance, Part 33)

2. Adult Gaming Centres

No one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an Adult Gaming Centre. The 
Council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the premises. The Council 
will expect applicants to offer their own measures to meet the licensing 
objectives however appropriate measures / licence conditions may cover 
issues such as:

 Proof of age schemes
 CCTV
 Door supervisors

Page 51



Page 26 of 46

Page 26 of 46

 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/ helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures. 

3. (Licensed) Family Entertainment Centres:

These premises may provide category C and D gaming machines and require 
a premises licence. Children and young persons will be permitted to enter an 
FEC and may play on category D machines but will not be permitted to play on 
Category C machines.

The Council will specifically have regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the authority for example that there will be sufficient 
measures to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult 
only gaming machine areas. This licensing authority will expect applicants to 
offer their own measures to meet the licensing objectives however appropriate 
measures / licence conditions may cover issues such as:

 CCTV
 Supervision of entrances / machine areas
 Physical separation of areas
 Location of entry
 Notices / signage
 Specific opening hours
 Self exclusion schemes
 Provision of information leaflets/ helpline numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare
 Measures/ training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant 

school children on the premises.

This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 
measures.

The Council will have regard to the Gambling Commission’s guidance, and refer 
to the Commission’s website to see any conditions that apply to operator 
licences covering the way in which the area containing the category C machines 
should be delineated.  The Council will also make itself aware of any mandatory 
or default conditions on these premises licences, when they have been 
published.  This council would expect machines to be in a designated enclosed 

Page 52



Page 27 of 46

Page 27 of 46

area (not walkways or corridors of a larger building) and to have staff appointed 
with responsibility for the protection of children and other vulnerable people.

4. Casinos

No Casinos resolution - This Council has not passed a ‘no casino’ resolution 
under Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005, but is aware that it has the power 
to do so.  Should the Council decide in the future to pass such a resolution, it 
will update this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any such 
decision will be made by the full council.

5. Bingo premises

The Council notes that the Gambling Commission’s Guidance (5th Edition) 
states at paragraph18.5: “The Licensing Authority will need to satisfy itself that 
bingo can be played in any bingo premises for which they issue a premises 
licence. An operator may choose to vary their licence to exclude a previously 
licensed area of that premises, and then apply for a new premises licence, or  
multiple new premises licences , with the aim of creating separate premises in 
that area. Essentially providing multiple licensed premises within a single 
building or site. Before issuing additional bingo premises licences, licensing 
authorities need to consider whether bingo can be played at each of those new 
premises.”

Section 172(7) provides that the holder of a bingo premises licence may make 
available for use a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding 
20% of the total number of gaming machines which are available for use on 
the premises.
Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are entitled to make available eight 
category B gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming 
machines, whichever is the greater.  from 1 April 2014 these premises will be 
entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only. Regulations 
state that category B machines at bingo premises should be restricted to sub-
category B3 and B4 machines, but not B3A lottery machines.
This authority also notes the Guidance at paragraph 18.9 that the gaming 
machines must remain within the licensed area covered by the premises 
licence. In the unusual circumstance that an existing bingo premises covered 
by one premises licence applies to vary the licence and acquire additional 
bingo premises licences (so that the area that was the subject of a single 
licence will become divided between a number of separate licensed premises) 
it is not permissible for all of the gaming machines to which each of the 
licences brings an entitlement to be grouped together within one of the 
licensed premises.

Also at paragraph 18.7 the Guidance states that children and young people are 
allowed into bingo premises; however they are not permitted to participate in 
the bingo and if category B or C machines are made available for use these 
must be separated from areas where children and young people are allowed.

Page 53



Page 28 of 46

Page 28 of 46

6. Betting premises

Betting machines - 
This licensing authority will, in accordance with the Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing Authorities take into account the size of the premises, 
the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions, 
and the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people, 
when considering the number/nature/circumstances of betting machines an 
operator wants to offer.

The Gambling Commission has placed restrictions and requirements on 
Operating Licences for betting premises as regards credit, which are contained 
in its Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice. 

A failure to comply with a Code of Practice does not make a person liable to 
criminal or civil proceedings but a code shall be admissible in evidence and will 
be taken into account. However, the Gambling Commission’s Social 
Responsibility Code of Practice is incorporated as an operating licence 
condition so that breach may carry criminal consequences.

Tracks 
General 
The Council is aware that tracks (sites where races or other sporting events 
take place) are also recognised as multi- purpose venues having a wide range 
of facilities that enable them to host various other activities. 
Premises licences in relation to tracks differ from other types of premises 
licence in a number of ways. Most importantly, the applicant for the licence 
need not hold an operating licence from the commission. Tracks may be 
subject to one or more premises licences, provided each licence relates to 
specified area of the track. 
In accordance with the Commission’s Guidance, the Council will especially 
consider the impact upon the third licensing objective (i.e. the protection of 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by gambling) 
and the need to ensure that entrances to each type of premises are distinct 
and that children are excluded from gambling areas where they are not 
permitted to enter. 
The Council will expect the premises licence applicant to demonstrate suitable 
measures to ensure that children do not have access to adult only gaming 
facilities. It is noted that children and young persons are allowed to be present 
on the track while a sporting event is taking place on those licensed premises, 
but that they are still prevented from playing gaming machines (other than 
category D machines).
The Council may consider measures, where necessary to meet the licensing 
objectives, including but not limited to: 

 proof of age schemes (for example, PASS accredited schemes such as 
Validate) 

 CCTV 

Page 54



Page 29 of 46

Page 29 of 46

 supervision of entrances and/or gaming machine areas 
 physical separation of areas 
 location of entry 
 notices/signage 
 specific opening hours 
 self-exclusion schemes 
 provision of information leaflets and/or helpline telephone numbers for 

organisations such as GamCare 

 
The Council is of the view that it would be preferable for all self-contained 
premises at a track operated by a betting operator to be subject to a separate 
premises licence. This would ensure clarity between the responsibilities of the 
track operator and the individual betting operators on the track. 
The Council will attach a condition to track betting premises licences requiring 
the track operator to ensure that the betting rules are predominately displayed 
in or near each betting area, or that other measures are taken to ensure that 
they are made available to the public such as being printed in the race card.

Gaming machines 
Where the applicant holds a pool betting operating licence and is going to use 
the entitlement to four gaming machines, machines (other than category D 
machines) should be located in areas from which children are excluded. 

Self-service betting terminals (SSBT’s)
The Council is aware that licensed operators may install SSBT’s on tracks. 
There is no restriction on the number of SSBT’s that may be in use but 
operators must supervise such terminals to prevent them being used by those 
under 18 years of age.

Applications and plans 
The Act requires applicants to submit plans of the premises with their 
application, in order to ensure that the Council has the necessary information 
to make an informed judgement about whether the premises are fit for 
gambling. The plan will also be used for the Council to plan future premises 
inspection activity. Plans for tracks do not need to be in a particular scale, but 
the Council requires them to be drawn to scale and should be sufficiently 
detailed to include the information required by Regulations. 

Some tracks may be situated on agricultural land where the perimeter is not 
defined by virtue of an outer wall or fence, such as point-to-point racetracks. 
In such instances, where an entry fee is levied, track premises licence holders 
may erect temporary structures to restrict access to premises. In the rare 
cases where the outer perimeter cannot be defined, it is likely that the track in 
question will not be designed for the frequent holding of sporting events or 
races. In such cases, betting facilities may be better provided through 
occasional use notices where the boundary of the premises does not need to 
be defined. 

Page 55



Page 30 of 46

Page 30 of 46

The Council appreciates that it is sometimes difficult to define the precise 
location of betting areas on tracks. The precise location of where betting 
facilities are provided is not required to be shown on track plans, both by virtue 
of the fact that betting is permitted anywhere on the premises and because of 
the difficulties associated with pinpointing exact locations for some types of 
track. Applicants should provide sufficient information so that the Council can 
satisfy itself that the plan indicates the main areas where betting might take 
place.

7. Travelling Fairs

Travelling fairs may provide category D machines provided that facilities for 
gambling amount to no more than an ancillary amusement at the fair and they 
must comply with legal requirements about how the machine operates. 
Fairground operators must source their machines from a Commission licensed 
supplier and employees working with gaming machines must be at least 18 
years old.
Part 27 of the Guidance discusses the prize gaming that may be provided at 
travelling fairs. 

The Council will also consider whether the applicant falls within the statutory 
definition of a travelling fair. It will also decide whether the gaming provided is 
an ancillary amusement.

It has been noted that the 27-day statutory maximum for the land being used 
as a fair, is per calendar year, and that it applies to the piece of land on which 
the fairs are held, regardless of whether it is the same or different travelling fairs 
occupying the land. The Council will work with its neighbouring authorities to 
ensure that land, which crosses our boundaries, is monitored so that the 
statutory limits are not exceeded.

8. Provisional Statements

Developers may wish to apply to this authority for provisional statements before 
entering into a contract to buy or lease property or land to judge whether a 
development is worth taking forward in light of the need to obtain a premises 
licence. 

In contrast to premises licence, there is no need for the applicant to hold an 
operating licence or have a right to occupy the premises in order to apply for a 
provisional statement.

S.204 of the Gambling Act provides for a person to make an application to the 
the Council for a provisional statement in respect of a premises that he or she:
- expects to be constructed
-expects to be altered; or
-expects to require a right to occupy.

Page 56



Page 31 of 46

Page 31 of 46

The process for considering an application for a provisional statement is the 
same as that for a premises licence application. The applicant is obliged to give 
notice of the application in the same way as applying for a premises licence. 
Responsible authorities and interested parties may make representations and 
there are rights of appeal.

The holder of a provisional statement may then apply for a premises licence 
once the premises are constructed, altered or acquired. The Council will be 
constrained in the matters it can consider when determining the premises 
licence application, and in terms of representations about premises licence 
applications, following the grant of a provisional statement, no further 
representations from relevant authorities or interested parties can be taken into 
account unless they concern matters which could not have been addressed at 
the provisional statement stage, or they reflect a change in the applicant’s 
circumstances.  In addition, the authority may refuse the premises licence (or 
grant it on terms different to those attached to the provisional statement) only 
by reference to matters:

(a) which could not have been raised by objectors at the provisional 
licence stage; or

(b) which is in the authority’s opinion reflect a change in the operator’s 
circumstances; or

(c) Where the premises have not been constructed in accordance with 
the plan submitted with the application. This must be a substantial 
change to the plan and the Council notes that it can discuss any 
concerns it has with the applicant before making a decision.

      Section 210 of the Act makes it clear that a licensing authority must 
not have regard to whether a proposal is likely to be permitted in 
accordance with planning or building law in the case of provisional 
statements and premises licences.

9. Reviews

Requests for a review of a premises licence can be made by interested parties 
or responsible authorities; however, it is for the Council as the Licensing 
Authority to decide whether the review is to be carried out.  This will generally 
be on the basis of whether the request for the review is relevant to the matters 
listed below, as well as consideration as to whether the request is frivolous, 
vexatious, will certainly not cause this authority to wish alter/revoke/suspend 
the licence, or whether it is substantially the same as previous representations 
or requests for review.

The Council can itself initiate a review of a particular premises licence, or a 
particular class of premises licence. Consideration to review should be in 
pursuit of the principles set out in s.153 of the Act or underpinned by reasonable 
concerns, such as changes to the local environment or residents’ complaints.

Page 57



Page 32 of 46

Page 32 of 46

In considering the review, the Council will have regard to whether the gambling 
is:

           
 Is being carried out in accordance with the conditions attached to 

the licence
 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the 

Gambling  Commission
 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 

Commission 
 putting the compliance with the licensing objectives at risk
 in accordance with the authority’s statement of licensing policy 

(principles)
 for any other reason which gives them cause to believe that a 

review may be appropriate, such as a complaint from a third party

Reviews will follow the regulations, guidance and the Council’s committee 
procedures.

10.Safeguarding against Child Sexual exploitation (CSE) 

The Council acknowledges that CSE awareness doesn’t just apply to children 
on licensed premises, particularly as children are not permitted access to 
most gambling premises. Applicants should be equally aware of children in 
the proximity of the premises that may be waiting for, or seeking, older 
persons. 
Applicants are encouraged to ensure that suitable management controls are 
in place to safeguard children against the risk of CSE. Measures may include, 
but are not limited to: 

 awareness training for staff; 
 regular patrols of the premises, including external areas and the 

immediate proximity, to identify any vulnerable children; 
 close monitoring of patrons as they leave the premises; 
 recording and reporting concerns to the police. 

 The Council expects applicants to be aware of ‘risk indicators’ of CSE which 
include, but are not limited to: 

 developing relationships between a child and an older person 
 children in the company of a group of older persons 
 children regularly attending premises and meeting with a number 

of different older persons, particularly where older persons may be 
facilitating gambling for children 

 children outside of licensed premises developing relationships 
with an older person, particularly an older person facilitating 
gambling for children 

 children leaving the locality of the premises with older persons, 
particularly with a group of older persons 

Page 58



Page 33 of 46

Page 33 of 46

 children looking uncomfortable in the company of, or leaving with, 
older persons particularly groups of older persons 

Whilst the Council does not wish to create the impression that all contact 
between children and older persons is inappropriate, it is strongly of the view 
that licence holders should be aware of the risks of CSE and should 
proactively manage their premises to minimise the risks. 
The Hertfordshire Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) have dual role in 
respect of preventing CSE within licensed premises. The HSCB is a 
responsible authority under the Act having been nominated by the Council to 
undertake this function. The HSCB also monitor compliance with the statutory 
requirements under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. Applicants are encouraged to visit the HSCB 
website for advice www.hertssafeguarding.org.uk 
The Council expects applicants to demonstrate the measures they will take to 
safeguard against CSE in the operating schedule.

Page 59



Page 34 of 46

Page 34 of 46

PART C
 Permits / Temporary & Occasional Use Notice

1. Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre gaming machine permits 
(Statement of Principles on Permits – Schedule 10 paragraph 7)

Where a premises does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide 
gaming machines, it may apply to the Council for this permit.  It should be noted 
that the applicant must show that the premises will be wholly or mainly used for 
making gaming machines available for use (Section 238).

Unlicensed FECs, by definition, will not be subject to scrutiny by the Gambling 
Commission as no operating (or other) licences will be applied for and issued. 
The Council will expect applicants to demonstrate:

 a full understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling 
that is permissible in unlicensed FECs;

 that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in 
Schedule 7 of the Act); and

 that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes. Guidance (24.7)

The Guidance also states: An application for a permit may be granted only if 
the Council is satisfied that the premises will be used as an unlicensed FEC, 
and if the chief officer of police has been consulted on the application. 

It should be noted that the Council cannot attach conditions to this type of 
permit. 
Statement of Principles 

The Council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and 
procedures in place to protect children from harm. Harm in this context is not 
limited to harm from gambling but includes wider child protection 
considerations. Such policies and procedures will be considered on their merits, 
however, they may include appropriate measures/ training for staff as regards 
suspected truant school children on the premises, measures /training covering 
how staff would deal with unsupervised very young children being on the 
premises or children causing perceived problems on or around the premises. 
The Council will also expect, in accordance with the Gambling Commission 
Guidance, that applicants demonstrate a full understanding of the maximum 
stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed FECs; that 
the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are set out in Schedule 7 
of the Act); and that staff are trained to have a full understanding of the 
maximum stakes and prizes.
The Council requires a plan of the proposals to be submitted with the 
application.

Page 60



Page 35 of 46

Page 35 of 46

2. (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits)- (Schedule 13 
paragraph 4 (1)
Automatic entitlement: 2 machines
There is provision in the Act for premises licensed to sell alcohol for 
consumption on the premises, to automatically have 2 gaming machines, of 
categories C and/or D.  The premises merely need to notify the Council. 

The Council can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 
premises if:

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit 
of the licensing objectives;

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of 
section 282 of the Gambling Act for example the gaming machines have 
been made available in a way that does not comply with requirements 
on the location and operation of gaming machines 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or
 an offence under the Gambling Act has been committed on the premises

If a premises wishes to have more than 2 machines, then it needs to apply for 
a permit and the Council must consider that application based upon the 
licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling Commission issued 
under Section 25 of the Gambling Act 2005, and “such matters as they think 
relevant.” 

The Council considers that “such matters” will be decided on a case by case 
basis but generally there will be regard to the need to protect children and 
vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by gambling and will expect 
the applicant to satisfy the authority that there will be sufficient measures to 
ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to the adult only gaming 
machines.  Measures which will satisfy the authority that there will be no access 
may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the sight of staff 
who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also help.  As regards the protection of vulnerable 
persons, applicants may wish to consider the provision of information leaflets / 
help line numbers for organisations such as GamCare.

For two to three machines the decision will be taken by the Licensing Officer.
For four to five machines the decision will be taken by the Licensing Officer (or 
other officer with appropriate delegation) in consultation with the chairman of 
the committee set up under the Licensing Act 2003.

For more than five machines it will be referred to a licensing sub committee of 
councillors.

It is recognised that some alcohol licensed premises may apply for a premises 
licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would need 
to be applied for, and most likely be dealt with as an Adult Gaming Centre 
premises licence. 

Page 61



Page 36 of 46

Page 36 of 46

It should be noted that the Council can decide to grant the application with a 
smaller number of machines and/or a different category of machines than that 
applied for. Conditions (other than these) cannot be attached.

It should also be noted that the holder of a permit must comply with any Code 
of Practice issued by the Gambling Commission about the location and 
operation of the machine.

3. Prize Gaming Permits – (Statement of Principles on Permits)

The Gambling Act 2005 states that the Council may “prepare a statement of 
principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions under this 
Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the Council propose 
to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a permit”.  

The Council has prepared a statement of principles which is that the applicant 
should set out the types of gaming that he or she is intending to offer and that 
the applicant should be able to demonstrate:

 that they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in 
Regulations;

 that the gaming offered is within the law
 clear policies that outline the steps to be taken to protect children from 

harm.

In making its decision on an application for this permit the Council does not 
need to (but may) have regard to the licensing objectives but must have regard 
to any Gambling Commission guidance.  

It should be noted that there are conditions in the Gambling Act 2005 by which 
the permit holder must comply, but that the Council cannot attach conditions.  
The conditions in the Act are:

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be 
complied with;

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the 
premises on which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game 
must be played and completed on the day the chances are allocated; 
and the result of the game must be made public in the premises on the 
day that it is played; 

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set 
out in regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-
monetary prize); and

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any 
other gambling. 

Page 62



Page 37 of 46

Page 37 of 46

4. Club Gaming and Club Machines Permits

Members Clubs and Miners’ Welfare Institutes may apply for a Club Gaming 
Permit or a Clubs Gaming machines permit while a Commercial Club may apply 
for a Club Gaming Machines Permit.

The Club Gaming Permit will enable the premises to provide gaming machines 
(3 machines of categories B, C or D), equal chance gaming and games of 
chance.  A Club Gaming machine permit will enable the premises to provide 
gaming machines (3 machines of categories B, C or D). However commercial 
clubs may not site category B3A gaming machines offering lottery games in 
their club.

The ‘Act’ states: “Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be 
established and conducted “wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, 
unless the gaming is restricted to that of a prescribed kind (currently bridge and 
whist). Members clubs must be permanent in nature not established to make 
as a commercial enterprise but there is no need for a club to have an alcohol 
licence. 
Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British Legion and 
clubs with political affiliations.” 

The Council is aware that licensing authorities may only refuse an application 
on the grounds that:

(a) the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or 
commercial club or miners’ welfare institute and therefore is not entitled 
to receive the type of permit for which it has applied;
(b) the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or 
young persons;
(c) an offence under the Act or a breach of a permit has been committed 
by the applicant while providing gaming facilities;
(d) a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten 
years; or
(e) an objection has been lodged by the Commission or the police. 

If the Council is satisfied that (a) or (b) is the case we will refuse the licence.

It should be noted that there is a ‘fast-track’ procedure available for premises 
that hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003 (schedule 
12 paragraph 10). As the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities’ states: “Under the fast-track procedure there is no opportunity for 
objections to be made by the Commission or the police, and the ground upon 
which an authority can refuse a permit are reduced” and “The grounds on which 
an application under the process may be refused are:

(a) that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming   
prescribed by regulations under s266 of the Act.
(b) that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides 
facilities for other gaming; or
(c) that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the 
applicant in the last ten years has been cancelled.” 

Page 63



Page 38 of 46

Page 38 of 46

The club gaming permit has statutory conditions, including that in respect of 
gaming machines no child or young person uses a category B or C machine 
on the premises and that the holder complies with any relevant provision of a 
code of practice about the location and operation of gaming machines.

Small Society Lotteries 
 Under the Act, a lottery is unlawful unless it runs under an operating licence 
or is an exempt lottery of which there are four types. The Council will register 
and administer small society lotteries as defined under the Act. Promoting or 
facilitating a lottery will fall into two categories: (i) licensed lotteries (requiring 
an operating licence from the Gambling Commission); or 
(ii) exempt lotteries (including small society lotteries registered with the 
Council) 

 Exempt lotteries are lotteries permitted to run without a licence from the 
Gambling Commission and are defined as: 

 small society lotteries 
 incidental non-commercial lotteries 
 private lotteries 
 private society lottery 
 work lottery 
 residents’ lottery 
 customers’ lottery 

Advice regarding the definitions of an exempt lottery is available from the 
Gambling Commission’s website: 

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Lotteries/Lotteries-
raffles.aspx

Applicants for registration of small society lotteries must apply to the licensing 
authority in the area in which their principal office is located. The Council will 
not register a lottery where the principal office is not located within the 
borough of Welwyn Hatfield. 
 Lotteries will be regulated through a licensing and registration scheme with 
conditions imposed on licences by the Gambling Commission, Codes of 
Practice and any Guidance issued by the Gambling Commission. In 
exercising its functions with regard to small society and exempt lotteries, the 
Council will have due regard to the Commission's Guidance. 
The Council may refuse an application for a small society lottery registration if, 
in their opinion:

  the applicant is not a non-commercial society 
 a person who will or may be connected with the promotion of the lottery 

has been convicted of a relevant offence as defined in Section 353 of 
the Act 

Page 64

http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Lotteries/Lotteries-raffles.aspx
http://www.gamblingcommission.gov.uk/Gambling-sectors/Lotteries/Lotteries-raffles.aspx


Page 39 of 46

Page 39 of 46

 information provided in or with the application for registration is false or 
misleading 

In assessing whether or not a society meets the requirement of being non-
commercial, the Council will have regard to the non-submission of annual 
lottery returns as part of the renewal process. Failure to submit a return may 
be considered as evidence that the society does not meet the necessary 
criteria. 
The Council is likely to revoke the registered status of a society if it thinks that 
they would have had to, or would be entitled to, refuse an application for 
registration if it were being made at that time. No revocations will take place 
unless the society has been given the opportunity to make representations.

Temporary Use Notices

Temporary Use Notices allow the use of premises for gambling where there is 
no premises licence but where a gambling operator wishes to use the premises 
temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. Premises that might be suitable 
for a Temporary Use Notice, according to the Gambling Commission, would 
include hotels, conference centres and sporting venues. It could also apply to 
a vessel whether moored or moving.

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council can only grant a Temporary Use Notice to a 
person or company holding a relevant operating licence, i.e. a non-remote 
casino operating licence.

The Secretary of State has the power to determine what form of gambling can 
be authorised by Temporary Use Notices, and at the time of writing this 
Statement the relevant regulations (The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use 
Notice) Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used 
to permit the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming where the gaming 
is intended to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker 
tournaments.

There are a number of statutory limits as regards Temporary Use Notices
Gambling Commission Guidance is noted that "The meaning of "premises" in 
part 8 of the Act is discussed in Part 7 of the guidance.  As with "premises", the 
definition of "a set of premises" will be a question of fact in the particular 
circumstances of each notice that is given.  In the Act "premises" is defined as 
including "any place".  In considering whether a place falls within the definition 
of "a set of premises", licensing authorities will need to look at, amongst other 
things, the ownership/occupation and control of the premises. 
The Council expects to object to notices where it appears that their effect would 
be to permit regular gambling in a place that could be described as one set of 
premises, as recommended in the Gambling Commission’s Guidance to 
Licensing Authorities.

Page 65



Page 40 of 46

Page 40 of 46

Occasional Use Notices:

The Council has very little discretion as regards these notices aside from 
ensuring that the statutory limit of 8 days in a calendar year is not exceeded.  
The Council will though need to consider the definition of a ‘track’ and whether 
the applicant is permitted to avail him/herself of the notice.  

Appendix A Plan of Borough
Appendix B List of consultees
Appendix C Table of delegation
Appendix D Glossary of terms

Page 66



Page 41 of 46

Page 41 of 46

Appendix A

Page 67



Page 42 of 46

Page 42 of 46

APPENDIX B

Chief of Police
One or more persons who appear to represent the interests of persons 
carrying on gambling businesses
One or more persons who represent the interests of persons likely to be 
affected by the exercise of the authorities functions under this Act

Responsible Authorities
The Gambling Commission
Chief of police
Fire and Rescue
Planning
Environmental Health
Safeguarding children board
Revenue and Customs
HSE

Others
Welwyn Hatfield Council Committee
Welwyn Hatfield Alliance
Existing Casino, FEC, Bingo, Betting Shops, Lottery Licence holders.
Local residents via, chairs of the residents associations Members of the 
Welwyn Hatfield Council Community Panel.
All premises licence and club premises certificate holders.
Society lottery registrations
Neighbouring local authorities.
WHC Community Safety Unit
HCC Social Services
WHC Law and Admin Service
Local solicitors
Parish and Town Councils.
Magistrates Court
The chairs of the Chamber of Commerce.
Gamcare
Remote Gambling Association
Gambling Commission
National Lottery Commission
Centre for study of gambling
BACTA (British amusement catering trade association) representing pay to 
play leisure industry
British casino association
Bingo Association
Association of British Bookmakers
University of Hertfordshire
Citizens Advice bureau
Trade Union Congress
Ncvcco ( National Council of voluntary child care organisations)
Faith groups in Welwyn Hatfield

Page 68



Page 43 of 46

Page 43 of 46

Voluntary and community organisations working with children and young 
people
Organisations working with people who are problem gamblers
Medical practises or PCTS
Advocacy organisations and trade unions
British Beer and Pub Association
Welwyn Garden City BID

Page 69



Page 44 of 46

Page 44 of 46

APPENDIX C

TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS

MATTER TO BE DEALT WITH FULL 
COUNCIL

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICERS

Three year licensing policy X

Policy not to permit casinos X

Fee Setting - when appropriate X (if delegated by full council)

Application for premises 
licences

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a variation to a 
licence

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Application for a transfer of a 
licence

Where representations have 
been received from the 
Commission or responsible 
authority

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission or responsible 
authority

Application for a provisional 
statement

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Review of a premises licence X

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits

Where representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn

Where no representations 
received/ representations 
have been withdrawn

Cancellation of club gaming/ 
club machine permits X

Applications for other permits X

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits X

Consideration of temporary use 
notice X

Decision to give a counter 
notice to a temporary use notice X

X indicates the lowest level to which decisions can be delegated

Page 70



Page 45 of 46

Page 45 of 46

Appendix D

Glossary of Terms

Within this draft Statement of Policy, the following words and terms are defined 
as stated:

Licensing 
Objectives:

As defined in section 1.1

Council: Welwyn Hatfield Council

District The area of Hertfordshire administered by Welwyn Hatfield 
Council (Map appended at Appendix A)

Licences: As defined in section 7.1

Applications: Applications for licences and permits as defined in section 7.2

Notifications: Means notification of temporary and occasional use notices

Act: The Gambling Act 2005

Regulations: Regulations made under the Gambling Act 2005

Premises: Any place, including a vehicle, vessel or moveable structure

Code
of Practice:

Means any relevant code of practice under section 24 of the 
Gambling Act 2005

Mandatory 
Condition:

Means a specified condition provided by regulations to be 
attached to a licence

Default 
Condition:

Means a specified condition provided by regulations to be 
attached to a licence, unless excluded by Welwyn Hatfield 
Council

Responsible 
Authority:

For the purposes of this Act, the following are responsible 
authorities in relation to premises:

1. The Welwyn Hatfield Council in whose area the 
premises are wholly or mainly situated (“Welwyn 
Hatfield Council”);

2. The Gambling Commission; 
3. Hertfordshire Constabulary;
4. Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service;
5. Planning Authority Welwyn Hatfield Council; 
6. Environmental Health, Welwyn Hatfield Council;
7. Hertfordshire Safeguarding children board., 

Page 71



Page 46 of 46

Page 46 of 46

8. HM Revenue and Customs.

Interested 
Party:

For the purposes of this Act, a person is an interested party in 
relation to a premises licence if, in the opinion of the Welwyn 
Hatfield Council which issues the licence or to which the 
application is made, the person:-

a) Lives sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be 
affected by the authorised activities;

b) Has business interests that might be affected by the 
authorised activities;

c) Represents persons who satisfy a) or b) above.

Regional 
casino

Large casino

Small casino

One allowed minimum 5000square metres offering casino 
games, bingo, betting and up to 1250 category A and B1 
machines

No more than eight allowed. Minimum of 1500 square 
metres, offering casino games, bingo and betting and up to 
150 category B1 machines.

No more than eight allowed. Minimum of 750 square metres 
offering casino games, betting and up to 80 category B1 
machines.

Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

Gambling Act 2005 Policy Statement Consultation
Letter to 

Dear Sir/Madam,

Re: Gambling Act 2005 Policy Statement Consultation

We act for the Association of British Bookmakers (ABB) and have received instructions to respond 
on behalf of our client to the current consultation on the Council’s review of its gambling policy 
statement.

The Association of British Bookmakers (ABB) represents over 80% of the high street betting market. 
Its members include large national operators such as William Hill, Ladbrokes Coral and Paddy Power, 
as well as almost 100 smaller independent bookmakers.

Please see below for the ABB’s response to the Council's current consultation on the draft gambling 
policy statement. 

This response starts by setting out the ABB’s approach in areas relevant to the local authority's 
regulation of betting shop premises, and its commitment to working with local authorities in 
partnership. The response finishes by highlighting matters within the policy statement which the 
ABB feels may need to be addressed.

Betting shops have been part of the British high street for over 50 years and ensuring a dialogue with 
the communities they serve is vital.

The ABB recognises the importance of the gambling policy statement in focusing on the local 
environment and welcomes the informed approach this will enable operators to take for example, 
with regard, to the new requirements for local area risk assessments and ensuring the right 
structures are in place in shops that are appropriate for that area. 

Whilst it is important that the gambling policy statement fully reflects the local area, the ABB is also 
keen to ensure that the statutory requirements placed on operators and local authorities under the 
Gambling Act 2005 remain clear; this includes mandatory conditions (for instance, relating to Think 
21 policies) and the aim to permit structure. Any duplication or obscuring of these within new 
processes would be detrimental to the gambling licensing regime. The ABB also believes it is 

Please ask for: Richard Taylor
Direct Tel: 01482 590216                                                

Email: rjt@gosschalks.co.uk
Our ref: RJT / AW / 097505.00005

#GS2092988
Your ref:

Date: 10th August 2018

BY EMAIL ONLY
LICENSING SECTION
WELWYN HATFIELD DISTRICT COUNCIL

Page 75



 2 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

important that the key protections already offered for communities, and clear process (including 
putting the public on notice) for objections to premises licence applications, continue to be 
recognised under the new regime.

Any consideration of gambling licensing at the local level should also be considered within the wider 
context. 

 the overall number of betting shops is in decline. The latest Gambling Commission industry 
statistics show that numbers as of March 2017 were 8,788 - a decline of 349 since March 2014, 
when there were 9,137 recorded.

 planning law changes introduced in April 2015 have increased the ability of licensing authorities 
to review applications for new premises, as all new betting shops must now apply for planning 
permission.

 successive prevalence surveys and health surveys tells us that problem gambling rates in the UK 
are stable (0.6%) and possibly falling.

Working in partnership with local authorities

The ABB is fully committed to ensuring constructive working relationships exist between betting 
operators and licensing authorities, and that where problems may arise that they can be dealt with 
in partnership. The exchange of clear information between councils and betting operators is a key 
part of this and the opportunity to respond to this consultation is welcomed. 

LGA – ABB Betting Partnership Framework

In January 2015 the ABB signed a partnership agreement with the Local Government Association 
(LGA), developed over a period of months by a specially formed Betting Commission consisting of 
councillors and betting shop firms, which established a framework designed to encourage more joint 
working between councils and the industry.

Launching the document Cllr Tony Page, LGA Licensing spokesman, said it demonstrated the "desire 
on both sides to increase joint-working in order to try and use existing powers to tackle local concerns, 
whatever they might be."

The framework builds on earlier examples of joint working between councils and the industry, for 
example the Medway Responsible Gambling Partnership which was launched by Medway Council 
and the ABB in December 2014. The first of its kind in Britain, the voluntary agreement led the way 
in trialing multi-operator self-exclusion. Lessons learned from this trial paved the way for the 
national multi-operator self-exclusion scheme now in place across the country. By phoning a free 
phone number (0800 294 2060) a customer who is concerned they are developing a problem with 
their gambling can exclude themselves from betting shops close to where they live, work and 

Page 76



 3 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

socialise. The ABB is working with local authorities to help raise awareness of the scheme, which is 
widely promoted within betting shops. 

The national scheme was first trialed in Glasgow in partnership with Glasgow City Council. Cllr Paul 
Rooney, Glasgow’s City Treasurer and Chairman of a cross-party Sounding Board on gambling, 
described the project as "breaking new ground in terms of the industry sharing information, both 
between operators and, crucially, with their regulator.”

Primary Authority Partnerships in place between the ABB and local authorities

All major operators, and the ABB on behalf of independent members, have also established Primary 
Authority Partnerships with local authorities. These partnerships help provide a consistent approach 
to regulation by local authorities, within the areas covered by the partnership; such as age-
verification or health and safety. We believe this level of consistency is beneficial both for local 
authorities and for operators. 

For instance, Primary Authority Partnerships between Milton Keynes Council and Reading Council 
and their respective partners, Ladbrokes and Paddy Power, led to the first Primary Authority 
inspection plans for gambling coming into effect in January 2015. By creating largely uniform plans, 
and requiring enforcing officers to inform the relevant Primary Authority before conducting a 
proactive test-purchase, and provide feedback afterwards, the plans have been able to bring 
consistency to proactive test-purchasing whilst allowing the Primary Authorities to help the 
businesses prevent underage gambling on their premises.

Local area risk assessments

Since April 2016, under new Gambling Commission LCCP provisions, operators have been required 
to complete local area risk assessments identifying any risks posed to the licensing objectives and 
how these would be mitigated. Licensees must take into account relevant matters identified in the 
licensing authority’s statement of licensing policy, and any local area profile, in their risk assessment. 
These must be reviewed where there are significant local changes or changes to the premises, or 
when applying for a variation to or for a new premises licence. 

The ABB fully supports the implementation of risk assessments which will take into account risks 
presented in the local area, such as exposure to vulnerable groups and crime. The new requirements 
build on measures the industry has already introduced through the ABB Responsible Gambling Code 
to better identify problem gamblers and to encourage all customers to gamble responsibly. 

This includes training for shop staff on how to intervene and direct problem gamblers to support 
services, as well as new rules on advertising including banning gaming machine advertising in shop 
windows, and the introduction of Player Awareness Systems which use technology to track account 
based gaming machine customers' player history data to allow earlier intervention with any 
customers whose data displays known 'markers of harm'. 

Page 77



 4 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

Best practice

The ABB is committed to working pro-actively with local authorities to help drive the development 
of best practice with regard to local area risk assessments, both through responses to consultations 
such as this and directly with local authorities. Both the ABB and its members are open and willing 
to engage with any local authority with questions or concerns relating to the risk assessment process, 
and would encourage them to make contact. 

Westminster Council is one local authority which entered into early dialogue with the industry, 
leading to the development of and consultation on draft guidance on the risk assessment process, 
which the ABB and our members contributed to. Most recently one operator, Coral, has been 
working closely with the Council ahead of it issuing its final version of the guidance, which we 
welcome. 

The final guidance includes a recommended template for the local area risk assessment which we 
would point to as a good example of what should be expected to be covered in an operator's risk 
assessment. It is not feasible for national operators to submit bespoke risk assessments to each of 
the c.350 local authorities they each deal with, and all operators have been working to ensure that 
their templates can meet the requirements set out by all individual local authorities. 

The ABB would be concerned should any local authority seek to prescribe the form of an operator's 
risk assessment. This would not be in line with better regulation principles. Operators must remain 
free to shape their risk assessment in whichever way best meets their operational processes. 

The ABB has also shared recommendations of best practice with its smaller independent members, 
who although they deal with fewer different local authorities, have less resource to devote to 
developing their approach to the new assessments. In this way we hope to encourage a consistent 
application of the new rules by operators which will benefit both them and local authorities. 

Concerns around increases in the regulatory burden on operators

The ABB is concerned to ensure that any changes in the licensing regime at a local level are 
implemented in a proportionate manner. This would include if any local authority were to set out 
overly onerous requirements on operators to review their local risk assessments with unnecessary 
frequency, as this could be damaging. As set out in the LCCP a review should only be required in 
response to significant local or premises change. In the ABB’s view this should be where evidence 
can be provided to demonstrate that the change could impact the premises’ ability to operate 
consistently with the three licensing objectives. 

Any increase in the regulatory burden would severely impact ABB members at a time when overall 
shop numbers are in decline, and operators are continuing to absorb the impacts of significant recent 
regulatory change. This includes the increase to 25% of Machine Games Duty, limits to staking over 

Page 78



 5 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

£50 on gaming machines, and planning use class changes which require all new betting shops in 
England to apply for planning permission.

Employing additional licence conditions

It should continue to be the case that additional conditions are only imposed in exceptional 
circumstances where there are clear reasons for doing so. There are already mandatory and default 
conditions attached to any premises licence which will ensure operation that is consistent with the 
licensing objectives. In the vast majority of cases, these will not need to be supplemented by 
additional conditions.

The LCCP require that premises operate an age verification policy. The industry operates a policy 
called “Think 21”. This policy is successful in preventing under-age gambling. Independent test 
purchasing carried out by operators and the ABB, and submitted to the Gambling Commission, shows 
that ID challenge rates are consistently around 85%. The ABB has seen statements of principles 
requiring the operation of Challenge 25. Unless there is clear evidence of a need to deviate from the 
industry standard then conditions requiring an alternative age verification policy should not be 
imposed.

The ABB is concerned that the imposition of additional licensing conditions could become 
commonplace if there are no clear requirements in the revised licensing policy statement as to the 
need for evidence. If additional licence conditions are more commonly applied this would increase 
variation across licensing authorities and create uncertainty amongst operators as to licensing 
requirements, over complicating the licensing process both for operators and local authorities

Other concerns

Where a local area profile is produced by the licensing authority, this be made clearly available within 
the body of the licensing policy statement, where it will be easily accessible by the operator and also 
available for consultation whenever the policy statement is reviewed.

Considerations specific to the Draft Statement of Principles 2019 to 2022

Paragraph 2.4 misquotes S349 Gambling Act 2005.   The paragraph as drafted indicates that the 
purpose of the licensing policy is to set out the principles that the Council will apply to promote the 
licensing objectives when making decisions on applications under the Act.   Section 349, however, 
requires that the statement of principles is to outline the principles that the licensing authority 
proposes to apply in exercising its functions under the Act.   The licensing authority function is to 
have regard to the licensing objectives rather than promote them.

Whereas the principle of the promotion of the licensing objectives is fundamental within the 
Licensing Act 2003, the only body upon whom Gaming Act 2005 confers a duty to promote the 

Page 79



 6 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

licensing objectives is the Gambling Commission.    Licensing authorities are required to have regard 
to the licensing objectives when exercising most of their functions under the Gambling Act 2005 and 
applications for licensed premises must be reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.   
Accordingly, Paragraph 2.4 should be amended.

There are also references to the promotion of the licensing objectives within Paragraph 4.2 and 
10.10.   These references should be amended.

The new section of Paragraph 10.2 refers to the requirement for operators to undertake risk 
assessments to assess local risks to the licensing objectives and to have policies, procedures and 
control measures in place to mitigate those risks. 

There is a list of bullet points listing the licensing authority’s minimum expectations of matters to be 
covered by the risk assessment.   This list needs to be re-drafted as it contains matters that are not 
relevant to a risk to the licensing objectives.   For example, an assessment of gaming trends that may 
reflect benefit payments is not relevant to a risk to the licensing objectives unless the licensing 
authority has pre-determined that those in receipt of benefits are automatically vulnerable or likely 
to commit crime.   We are certain that this pre-determination has not taken place.   Similarly, it is 
difficult to see how the relative proximity of other licensed premises, Banks, Post Offices etc can be 
relevant to an assessment of risk to the licensing objectives.    Betting Shops (and other gambling 
outlets) are usually situated within areas of high footfall/population and there will always, therefore, 
be such a range of facilities.   

Finally, as nuisance is not a relevant issue as far as Gambling Act 2005 applications are concerned, 
the references to anti social behavior and street drinking should be removed.

Thereafter, there is a second list of bullet points where the licensing authority recommends matters 
to be taken into account.   This refers to “matters of faith”.   This reference should be removed as 
moral considerations are not relevant so far as the licensing objectives are concerned.  This is 
acknowledged later within Part B.   

The final sentence of paragraph 10.3 should be deleted as this indicates that the licensing authority 
will consider the socio economic make up of the area, density of gambling premises and specific 
types of gambling when considering its regulatory approach.  Once again, the relative affluence of 
an area can have no bearing on whether or not an operation is reasonably consistent with the 
licensing objectives and the density of gambling premises is a matter of planning.   As the Statement 
of Principles acknowledges later on, the likelihood of planning permission is not a relevant 
consideration (Section 2.10 of Gambling Act 2005).

Within the general principles of Part B, there is a reference (under the heading “Location”) to the 
possibility of a policy being adopted with regard to areas where gambling premises should not be 
located.  The reference to such a policy should be removed as any policy is likely to be unlawful and 
is certainly contrary to the overriding principle contained within Section 153 Gambling Act 2005 that 
the licensing authority should aim to permit the use of premises for gambling.  

Page 80



 7 / 7

  
Queens Gardens, Hull, HU1 3DZ. T 01482 324252. F 0870 600 5984
E info@gosschalks.co.uk.  W www.gosschalks.co.uk.  DX 11902 – Hull

A list of partners is available for inspection at the above address.   

This firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation Authority under number 61213

The licensing authority’s approach to conditions is excellent. Paragraph 4.1 in Part A indicates that 
the starting point in determining applications were to grant an application without conditions.   This 
will be due to the fact that the mandatory and default conditions are usually sufficient to ensure 
operation that is reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives.   

The section about conditions in Part B would be assisted if this starting point could be reiterated and 
further if it were made clear that additional conditions will only be considered where there is 
evidence of a risk to the licensing objectives in the circumstances of a particular case such that the 
mandatory and default conditions needed to be supplemented.   

The evidential basis for the imposition of additional conditions is important and the Statement of 
Principles should be clear that additional conditions will not be imposed simply where it is thought 
to be “appropriate” (Part B, Paragraph 1) or where there is a “perceived need” (Page 24).

Conclusion

The ABB and its members are committed to working closely with both the Gambling Commission 
and local authorities to continually drive up standards in regulatory compliance in support of the 
three licensing objectives: to keep crime out of gambling, ensure that gambling is conducted in a fair 
and open way, and to protect the vulnerable. 

Indeed, as set out, the ABB and its members already do this successfully in partnership with local 
authorities now. This includes through the ABB Responsible Gambling Code, which is mandatory for 
all members, and the Safe Bet Alliance (SBA), which sets voluntary standards across the industry to 
make shops safer for customers and staff. 

We would encourage local authorities to engage with us as we continue to develop both these codes 
of practice, which are in direct support of the licensing objectives, as well as our processes around 
local area risk assessments. 

Yours faithfully,

GOSSCHALKS

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Representation by the Association of British Bookmakers

Reference in policy Current wording Suggested change
Paragraph 2.4 
Refers to having 
regard to the 
licensing objectives 
not promote the 
licensing objectives.

The Gambling Act 2005 
requires the Council to prepare 
and publish a “Statement of 
Licensing Policy” that sets out 
the principles that the Council 
will apply to promote the 
Licensing Objectives when 
making decisions on 
applications made under the 
Act. This policy statement also 
incorporates some ‘statements 
of principles’ that we propose to 
apply when exercising our 
functions.  

The Gambling Act 2005 
requires the Council to 
prepare and publish a 
“Statement of Licensing 
Policy” that sets out the 
principles that the Council 
will apply in exercising 
their functions under the 
Act while having regard to 
the licensing objectives.
EOSC -agreed

Paragraph 4.2
As above

All applicants for Premises 
Licences are encouraged to set 
out how they will promote the 
licensing objectives

All applicants for 
Premises Licences are 
encouraged to set out 
how they will have regard 
to the licensing objectives
EOSC agreed

Paragraph 10.10
As above

The Council intends to use 
appropriate enforcement to 
promote the licensing 
objectives and will ensure 
adequate resources are 
available to do this.

The Council intends to 
use appropriate 
enforcement and will 
ensure adequate 
resources are available to 
do this.
EOSC agreed

Paragraph 10.2
List of bullet points 
listing minimum 
expectations for the 
premises risk 
assessment. They 
wish the following to 
be removed 
references in red to 
be removed.

 Gaming trends that may 
reflect benefit payments

 Range of facilities in 
proximity to the licensed 
premises such as other 
gambling outlets, banks, 
post offices, refreshment 
and entertainment type 
facilities  

 Known problems in the 
area such as problems 
arising from street 
drinkers, youths 
participating in anti-
social behaviour, drug 
dealing activities, other 
crime and/ or disorder. 

These bullet points have 
been used by other 
Councils and the 
Gambling Commission 
have shown examples in 
their January bulletin 
(attached)
EOSC – original policy 
retained

Page 83



2

Last but one 
paragraph 10.2 wish 
the following to be 
removed.

Other issues that may be 
considered could include: 
Matters of faith, including all 
religious or faith denominations 
including proximity to churches, 
mosques, temples or any other 
place of worship. 

Could remain or be 
deleted
EOSC – original policy 
retained

Final sentence of 
paragraph 10.3 
should be deleted 
as it indicates that 
the LA will consider 
the socio economic 
make-up of the 
area, density of 
gambling and 
specific types of 
gambling when 
considering its 
regulatory 
approach. The 
relative affluence of 
an area can have no 
bearing on whether 
or not an operation 
is reasonably 
consistent with 
licensing objectives.

The council’s regulatory 
approach to Gambling Act 
applications may be influenced 
by the type of premises and/or 
its position in the borough, for 
example known issues with 
problem gambling, the 
interaction between the nigh t 
time economy and gambling 
and any crime patterns or anti-
social behaviour linked to 
gambling may be taken into 
consideration. In addition the 
socio economic makeup of the 
area, density of gambling 
premises and specific types of 
gambling may also be 
considered.

Could remain or be 
deleted
EOSC- original policy 
retained

Page 84



3

General principles 
of Part B, the 
reference under 
location (p. 21) to 
the possibility of a 
policy being 
adopted with regard 
to areas where 
gambling premises 
should not be 
located.
Any policy is likely 
to be unlawful and 
contrary to the 
principle that the LA 
should aim to permit 
the use of premises 
for gambling.

The Council is aware that 
demand issues cannot be 
considered with regard to the 
location of premises licences 
but that considerations in terms 
of the licensing objectives can.  
In accordance with the 
Gambling Commission’s 
Guidance to Licensing 
Authorities, this authority will 
pay particular attention to the 
protection of children and 
vulnerable persons from being 
harmed or exploited by 
gambling, as well as issues of 
crime and disorder.  Should any 
specific policy be decided upon 
as regards areas where 
gambling premises should not 
be located, this policy statement 
will be updated.  It should be 
noted that any such policy does 
not preclude any application 
being made and each 
application will be decided on its 
merits, with the onus upon the 
applicant showing how the 
concerns can be overcome.  

No current policy to this 
effect so paragraph can 
remain or be deleted.
EOSC – paragraph 
retained

Section relating to 
conditions in Part B 
paragraph 1. (p.18) 
The evidential basis 
for the imposition of 
additional conditions 
will not be imposed 
simply where it is 
sought to be 
“appropriate”.

Premises Licences will be 
subject to the requirements set 
out in the Gambling Act 2005 
and regulations, as well as 
specific mandatory and default 
conditions which will be detailed 
in regulations issued by the 
Secretary of State.  Licensing 
authorities are able to exclude 
default conditions and also 
attach others, where it is 
believed to be appropriate.

Changing appropriate to 
proportionate and 
relevant would be 
consistent with the 
Gambling Act guidance at 
9.31.
EOSC – change agreed

Page 85



4

Or where there is a 
“perceived” need p. 
24.

Decisions on individual 
conditions will be made on a 
case by case basis, although 
there will be a number of 
measures this licensing 
authority will consider utilising 
should there be a perceived 
need, such as the use of 
supervisors, appropriate 
signage for adult only areas etc. 
There are specific comments 
made in this regard under some 
of the licence types below. This 
licensing authority will also 
expect the licence applicant to 
offer his/her own suggestions as 
to the way in which the licensing 
objectives can be met 
effectively.

Could change perceived 
to relevant.
EOSC – change agreed

Page 86



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 6 November 2018:-

67.2 Street Trading Policy

The Cabinet considered the new street trading policy detailing current 
practices and a new system for vacant pitches and town centre pitches.

The draft policy was approved for consultation release by the Environment 
Overview Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 11 June 2018 (Minute 10 
refers) and the Cabinet was now asked to recommend that the final policy 
be approved and recommended to the Council for adoption.

The Cabinet approved the Street Trading Policy and RECOMMENDS its 
adoption by the Council.

Page 87

Agenda Item 10b



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Kate Payne 
Executive Member: Fiona Thomson 
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
CABINET – 6TH NOVEMBER 2018
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (PUBLIC PROTECTION, PLANNING 
AND GOVERNANCE)

STREET TRADING POLICY 

1 Executive Summary

1.1 This report presents and asks members to recommend adoption of the Council’s 
new street trading policy detailing our current practises and a new system for 
vacant pitches and town centre pitches. The draft policy was approved for 
consultation release by the Environment Overview Scrutiny Committee on 11th 
June 2018 and the Cabinet is now asked to recommend that the final policy is 
approved and forwarded on to Full Council for adoption.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 For the Cabinet to approve the attached street trading policy in Appendix 1 
(including appendices A-H) and recommend its adoption by Full Council.

3 Explanation

3.1 The council is responsible for the provision of consents for street trading. 
Currently there are five “pitches” in the borough made available for street trading 
while all other areas are designated “prohibited streets”. These pitches have 
been renewed annually at a fixed price by the same traders for many years. 

3.2 The Council does not issue street trading consents to traders who have made 
arrangements with owners of private land such as business car parks providing 
they are not on the Highway and have the owner’s permission. However these 
traders still have to register with Environmental Health if they are providing food. 

3.3  As the council street trading policy was overdue for review it was considered an 
appropriate time to attempt to address other areas which have been the cause of 
complaint in recent years through one single council wide policy. The issues 
relating to street trading in its widest sense go beyond the controls given to the 
council in the Local Government (Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1982 and the 
policy at Appendix 1 cites the areas of concern and the available control 
mechanisms for enforcement.

3.4 In order to create a diverse, fair, lawful and vibrant street trading culture which 
supports local businesses but does not compete with existing traders it is 
possible to have additional town centre street trading. Members have previously 
agreed an area in Hatfield suitable for this purpose but currently the process to 
implement these pitches has not begun. This is due to the cost implications and 
the fact that there have been no enquiries in having street trading at this time. 

Page 89



- 2 -

3.5 In cases where a pitch becomes available a notice inviting applications for the 
pitch will be carried by one or more of the following: Council website, Council 
Offices’ notice board, and social media; it may also be carried by other local 
publications or a notice at the site. 

3.6 There will also be arrangements available via the appropriate service area for 
street collections, direct debit collectors, political party stalls, buskers, 
commercial promoters/sellers. 

3.7 Enforcement of the new regime will remain with the current areas responsible 
(see appendix E) although it will be noted that some areas of enforcement 
responsibility are not vested in Welwyn Hatfield Council and some activities are 
lawfully exempt from “street trading” controls. 

3.8 A policy was prepared and presented to the Environment Overview Committee 
on 11th June 2018. The Committee recommended that the policy be consulted 
upon and was duly released for consultation between 15th June and 10th August 
2018.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The attached policy would form the basis of decision making regarding street 
trading provisions in the borough of Welwyn Hatfield.

Advice has been obtained from our legal department with regard to the 
provisions detailed in the policy.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 Advertising costs are attributable to the implementation of a new consent. This 
has not been carried out to date as there have been no enquiries in the use of 
the multi user consent agreed for Hatfield Town Centre.

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The council is at risk of legal challenge if it does not have or does not abide by an 
adopted policy on determining applications for street trading. The policy in 
appendix 1 and training for relevant members helps to mitigate this risk.

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 The council has an overarching duty to have due regard to the need to prevent 
people being drawn into terrorism, in the context of this report, there are no 
additional concerns.

Page 90



- 3 -

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1  None arising directly from this report

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The proposal does not imply an increase in greenhouse gas emissions or water 
use. A limited number of paper polices will be produced as it will be made 
available in electronic format. The proposal appears to be resilient to climate 
change and does not require adaptations to be made.  

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 None directly arising from this report. Consultation on policy development is a 
normal part of day to day work and allowed for in existing budgets. 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 The street trading policy has a number of conditions at Appendix D covering food 
hygiene, disposal of waste, public liability insurance and other safety measures 
to protect the public.  

 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 The policy was subject to a wide consultation with those listed in Appendix 2. The 
policy was also placed in the WGC and Hatfield libraries and on the Councils 
website.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “maintain a 
safe and healthy community” and is linked to statutory requirements under the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

14 Equality and Diversity

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed and no negative 
impact was identified on any of the protected groups under Equalities legislation. 

Name of author (Kate Payne 01707 357206)
Title (Licensing Team Leader)
Date (15/10/18)

Page 91



- 4 -

Background papers to be listed (if applicable)  

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982

Appendices to be listed 

Appendix 1 – Welwyn Hatfield Councils draft street trading policy

Appendix 2 – List of consultees

Appendix A – Application forms

Appendix B – Fees

Appendix C – Consents

Appendix D- Standard Conditions

Appendix E – Roles and responsibilities

Appendix F - Street collections

Appendix G – House to house collections

Appendix H – Direct debit collections

Page 92



1

CONTENTS

Introduction 1.0
The Policy 1.1
The objectives of the policy 1.2
The Law 1.3
Other types of street activities 1.4
Policy duration 1.5

Designation of streets for the purpose of street trading 2.0
Prohibited streets 2.1
Consent streets 2.2
Undesignated streets 2.3

Applications for a street trading consent 3.0
Advice for new applicants 3.1
Applications 3.2
Processing of an application 3.3
Consents 3.4
Town centre consents 3.5
Special events/Markets/Temporary markets 3.6
Annual consents with quarterly payments 3.7

Street trading consent conditions 4.0
Enforcement 5.0
Departure from policy 6.0
Amendments to policy 7.0
Fees and charges 8.0
Definitions 9.0

Appendices Page Number
A. Application form
B. Fees 
C. Consents
D. Standard conditions
E. Roles and responsibilities
F. Street collection regulations
G. House to House regulations
H. Direct debit collectors

Page 93



2

1.0 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Policy

1.1.1 This document states Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s, (to be referred to 
subsequently as WHBC) policy on Street Trading as defined by the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (Section 3 and schedule 4).

1.2 The Objectives of this Policy

1.2.1 This Policy has been adopted with view to securing the following objectives:
(i) to enhance the town centres of Welwyn Garden City, and Hatfield;
(ii) to protect public health through the control of street trading within the 

District of Welwyn Hatfield;
(iii) to ensure that traders operate within the law and act fairly in their 

dealings with the public; and
(iv) to prevent nuisance, unsafe practices and anti-social behaviour.

1.3 The Law

1.3.1 The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 (Section 3 and 
Schedule 4) provides the legal framework for the control of street trading in 
England and Wales. The legislative framework, however, is not an automatic 
entitlement and councils must formally adopt the legislation if they wish to 
regulate street trading in their areas. 
Other relevant legislation includes Food Safety Act 1990, Antisocial 
Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 
1974 and associated regulations, Environmental Protection Act 1990, Trading 
Standards legislation, and this Street Trading Policy

1.3.2 WHBC has resolved to make all streets within Welwyn Hatfield prohibited 
streets, with the exception of any streets designated as consent streets. This 
came into effect on 1st April 1993.

1.3.3 Street trading is defined as “the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any 
article, including a living thing, in a street.”

1.3.4 Streets are further defined as “any road, footway, beach, or other area to 
which the public have access without payment or any service area as defined 
by section 329 of the Highways Act 1990.”

1.3.5 WHBC does not issue street consents to traders who have made 
arrangements with owners of private land such as business car parks 
providing they are not on the Highway and have the land owner’s permission. 
However these traders still have to register with Environmental Health if they 
are providing food. WHBC will not be liable for any agreements/disputes 
between the landowner and the trader. 

Page 94



3

1.3.6 The main purpose of this legislation is to establish an appropriate licensing 
regime which prevents undue nuisance, interference or inconvenience to the 
public brought about by street trading. This legislation provides local 
authorities with the power (but not duty) to designate specific areas within 
their administrative boundaries as either:

(i) Prohibited Streets: those which are not open to street traders;
(ii) Consent Streets: where street trading is prohibited unless it has 

been given local authority consent;
(iii) Licence Streets: where trading is prohibited without a local authority 

licence.

1.3.7 Local authorities can place conditions on any Consent or Licence. The Act 
also creates offences associated with trading in Consent or Licence Streets 
without the necessary authority: the person guilty of such an offence may be 
liable, on conviction, to a fine not exceeding Level 3 on the standard scale. 
WHBC has not adopted street trading licences only street trading consents.
Any person who, in connection with an application for a street trading consent, 
makes a false statement which he knows to be false in any material respect, 
or which he does not believe to be true, shall be guilty of an offence.

1.3.8 There are a number of exemptions provided in the Act that are not to be 
considered street trading:

(i) trading as a pedlar under the authority of a pedlar’s certificate 
granted under the Pedlars Act 1871:

(ii) a market trader operating at a Charter or licensed market venue;
(iii) trading at a Charter Fair;
(iv) trading in a trunk road picnic area provided by the Secretary of State 

under section 112 of the Highways Act 1980
(v) trading as a news vendor selling only newspapers and /or 

periodicals:
(vi) trading at a petrol filling station or as part of a the business of a shop 

adjoining a petrol station;
(vii) trading carried on in a street linked to an adjoining shop where the 

street trading is an extension of the shop’s ordinary business;
(viii) trading as a roundsman;
(ix) where permission has been granted from the Highway Authority 

pursuant to Section 115 of the Highways Act 1980 to trade from an 
object or structure placed in, on, or over the highway;

(x) charitable street collections authorised by the Police, Factories, etc 
Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916.

1.4 Additional matters relating to street activity

1.4.1 Tables and chairs and ‘A’ boards. The granting of permissions for the placing 
of tables and chairs outside of a business providing refreshment, or the 

Page 95



4

placing of advertising boards outside of any business, is provided for by 
section 115 of the Highways Act 1980.

1.4.2 The licensing powers provided by section 115 of the Highways Act 1980 is 
designed to ensure that highways are kept free of obstructions and nuisance, 
WHBC is of the opinion that Hertfordshire Highways, acting as the Highway 
Authority on behalf of Hertfordshire County Council, is best placed to 
administer this function in conjunction with WHBC’s planning department.

1.4.3 Leaflet distributors may get permission to distribute free literature on WHBC 
land or highways by contacting our Town Centre Teams. If leaflets are seen to 
cause defacement to the street we can exercise our powers as a principal 
litter authority to control such distribution under the Environmental Health 
Protection Act 1990 by way of enforcement and designating streets for 
consent.

1.4.4 Direct debit collectors are required to book their collection date with the 
licensing team prior to their visit. We only accept bookings for two weekdays 
each week in the town centres to protect the residents from over exposure to 
this type of collection. We do not accept bookings on a Saturday or Sunday as 
these are reserved for registered charities who wish to carry out cash 
collections. Where possible they will be allocated one of the town centres or 
villages for their collections and in some cases they operate throughout the 
whole district. Some stores also allow collectors to stand on their premises but 
these need to be approached directly as they are then collecting on private 
land not the highway. Appendix H.

1.4.5 Party political stalls can be granted permission by approaching the town 
centre teams if the land is owned by WHBC. In the case of private land the 
owner of the land would need to give permission.

1.4.6 Buskers do not require a licence but should approach the town centre teams 
for permission to perform and arrange a suitable location dependant on other 
activities taking place on any day.

1.4.7. Markets consist of 5 stalls or more [Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 Part XII section 37 (6)] and further information can be 
obtained by contacting our Corporate Property/Estates department.

1.4.8. Fairs – Charter fairs are allowed but any complaints will be directed to the 
police or town centre teams.

1.4.9 Street collections can collect cash or sell articles for the benefit of charitable or 
other purposes if a street collection permit is issued. There is no cost for the 
issuing of the permit but there are rules to be followed in applying. These can 
be found at Appendix F.

1.4.10 House to house collections, a permit can be granted for any period up to one 
year. Collections generally take place from door to door or from one public 
house to another. These can be found at Appendix G.

Page 96



5

1.4.11 Roundsman a person who makes rounds selling, offering or exposing for sale 
his product is exempt from street trading. This includes ice cream/sandwich 
vans as they can claim exemption as a roundsman if they are moving from 
place to place. Stationary vehicles would need to either be on private land 
with the owner’s permission or be trading under a street trading permit.

1.4.12 Commercial promoters are classed as street traders on the basis that a 
contract is formed for the sale of goods. The town centre team may give 
permission under their town centre permit. (Once adopted).

1.4.13 Fetes, carnivals or similar community based events will not be charged for 
street trading provided the land owner has given permission and an Event 
Notification Form (ENF) has been submitted to the licensing team. All other 
legal requirements such as road closures, alcohol or music licences are the 
responsibility of the organiser.

1.5 Policy Duration

1.5.1 This Policy will take effect from   ………………..for a maximum period of five 
years.

1.5.2 Prior to the end of the five year period, if changes are to be made a 
consultation will be undertaken with a view to publishing a new Policy to take 
effect no later than   …………

1.5.3 The Policy will be kept under constant review to ensure that it meets the policy 
objectives. Additionally, it will be amended as and when necessary to reflect 
changes in best practice, legislation and case law.

2.0 DESIGNATION OF STREETS FOR THE PURPOSES OF 
STREET TRADING

2.1 Prohibited Streets

2.1.1 It has been decided to regulate the opportunity for street trading within the two 
towns and, therefore, there are currently only five consent streets designated 
within Welwyn Hatfield. These consents are contained in Appendix A.

2.2 Consent Streets

2.2.1 All other streets, with reference to the wide statutory definition in paragraph 
1.3.4 above, within the borough of Welwyn Hatfield have been collectively 
determined to be prohibited streets for the purpose of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.Some areas of private land which are not 
a highway have private arrangements with the land owner.

2.2.2 WHBC will continually monitor the impact of street trading on its consent 
streets with a view to promoting the objectives of this policy

Page 97



6

2.2.3 Before a new Street Trading Consent is created WHBC will carry out the 
process as defined in the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act 
1982 Schedule 4 section 2.  

2.2.4 WHBC will take the following matters into account when deciding on whether 
a new street trading consent should be created.

(i) a significant effect on road safety would arise either from the siting of 
the trading activity itself, or from customers visiting or leaving the 
site; or

(ii) where there are concerns over the recorded level of personal injury 
accidents in the locality where the street trading activity will be sited; 
or

(iii) there would be a significant loss of amenity caused by traffic, noise, 
rubbish, potential for the harbourage of vermin, odour or fumes; or

(iv) there is already adequate like provision in the immediate vicinity of 
the site to be used for street trading purposes; or

(v) there is a conflict with Traffic Orders such as waiting restrictions; or

(vi) the site or pitch obstructs either pedestrian or vehicular access, or 
traffic  flows, or places pedestrians in danger when in use for street 
trading purposes; or

(vii) the trading unit obstructs the safe passage of users of the footway or    
carriageway; or

(viii) the pitch interferes with sight lines for any road users, for example at 
road junctions, or pedestrian crossing facilities; or

(ix) the site does not allow the Consent Holder, staff and customers to 
park in a safe manner; or

(x) the street trading activity is carried out after dusk and the site is not 
adequately lit to allow safe access and egress from the site for both 
customers and staff.

2.2.5 Where a consent is surrendered or revoked, the council shall remit or refund, 
as they consider appropriate, the whole or a part of any fee paid for the grant 
or renewal of the consent. There will be no refunded fee where there has 
been a breach of the conditions or the consent and the licence is revoked.

2.3 Undesignated Streets

2.3.1 All streets are designated either prohibited or consent streets. New streets will 
become prohibited streets unless expressly designated as consent streets. 

3.0 APPLICATIONS FOR A STREET TRADING CONSENT

3.1 How new applications will be decided

3.1.1 Due to the very limited number of consent street pitches it is rare for a street 
trading pitch to become available. Therefore once an existing pitch becomes 

Page 98



7

available or a new pitch is proposed the details will be available on the 
WHBC’s website for six weeks. Once all declarations of interest have been 
received the licensing subcommittee will meet to determine which application 
is the most suitable for the proposed pitch. Reserve applicants will also be 
chosen where appropriate in the event that the first applicant is no longer able 
to proceed. 

3.1.2 Those on the current waiting list will be advised of the new system once this 
policy has been adopted. WHBC can also provide advice in relation to other 
requirements of a new licence holder, for example, food safety, planning 
permission or building control approval.

3.2 Applications

3.2.1 All applications must be made on WHBC’s prescribed application forms at 
Appendix A

3.2.2 The following will also be required to be submitted with the application:
(i) A description and photograph of the container from which the 

proposed trading will take place. The description to include, size, 
colour, signage, method of transport, number of staff and products to 
be sold.

(ii) Confirmation that adequate levels (at least 5 million pounds) of third 
party and public liability insurance is, or will be, in place during street 
trading activity.

(iii) Where food is being sold, the applicant must also be a registered 
food business 

(iv) Any trader selling food must achieve a minimum Food Hygiene 
Rating Score of [3] in order to be eligible for a consent. The consent 
would be revoked where the trader falls below this minimum rating of 
[3.]

(v) Where a street trading consent or licence has previously been 
revoked, either by WHBC, or any other authority, WHBC may refuse 
an application for consent.  

3.3 Processing of an Application

3.3.1 Once all applications have been received and judged relevant (correct 
documentation and site applied for) a licensing subcommittee will be 
arranged. 

3.3.2 An officer may visit the applicant and inspect the vehicle, barrow, cart, van, 
portable stall or other vehicle or premises which the applicant intends to trade 
from.

3.3.3 The applications will be:

Page 99



8

(i) considered by the licensing subcommittee and the most appropriate 
applicant will be granted a trading consent with conditions attached 
once the appropriate fee has been received; or

(ii) if the appropriate fee is not received within two weeks the consent 
will be offered to the second choice applicant and so forth

(iii) Once a consent has been granted all other applicants for that 
particular pitch will have their application refused. 

3.3.4 WHBC may have regard to the number, nature and type of traders already 
trading within a consent area when determining an application.

3.3.5 A street trading consent may be granted for any period not exceeding 12 
months but may be revoked at any time

3.3.6 There is no right of appeal against a variation of a condition, or refusal to grant 
or renew a Street Trading Consent. 

3.4 Consents

3.4.1 Consents may be issued for a period of up to twelve consecutive months, or 
quarterly if paid for in that manner.

3.4.2 All Consents that have not been renewed by their expiry date will 
automatically cease to exist and trading must cease until such time as a new 
Consent has been granted.

3.4.3 Once a Consent has lapsed for four weeks the pitch will be advertised as an 
available pitch open to applications from interested parties.

3.4.4 WHBC acknowledges that overly burdensome regulation and cost will 
discourage town centre community and cultural activity, particularly the 
requirement for each individual trader to obtain their own Consent. In order to 
encourage town centre activity. Therefore WHBC have developed multiple 
user Consents that will simplify this process (see sections 3.5, and 3.6).

3.5 Town Centre Consents

3.5.1 WHBC may administer on behalf of our town centre teams consents that 
cover areas of land in our town centres that are suitable for street trading use. 
Each Town Centre Consent will be accompanied by a plan clearly identifying 
those areas covered by the consent. This will remove the need for each 
individual trader to obtain a consent as they can apply directly to the town 
centre team for permission to trade and this should encourage town centre 
activity.

3.5.2 The consents can be issued for a maximum period of twelve months and will 
be to a named individual from the Town Centre Teams at WHBC. 

3.5.3 Town centre consent areas are decided by the council before the adoption 
procedure can be carried out for a consent street. This process is defined in 

Page 100



9

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Schedule 4 
section 2.  

3.5.4 Traders wishing to use the town centre consent will need to complete the multi 
user application form at Appendix A and submit it to the town centre team and 
must be age 17 or over.

3.5.5 The consent holder will be responsible for ensuring compliance with the 
conditions attached to the consent at all times whilst the consent is being used 
to facilitate street trading.

3.5.6 The consent holder, will be able to allow his/her consent to be used by 
commercial or not-for-profit organisations, however, no charge can be made 
for the use of the consent by not-for-profit organisations. There is a fee 
payable to Licensing for the administration of the consent which is contained 
in the fees table in Appendix B.

3.5.7 The consent holder will be required to keep records of all traders that use the 
Town Centre Consent including: date, trading location, name and company 
name (where appropriate), address, vehicle registration and contact telephone 
number.

3.5.8 Applicants wishing to use the town centre consent will need to provide the       
following with their application.

(i) A description and photograph of the container from which the 
proposed trading will take place. The description to include, size, 
colour, signage, method of transport, number of staff and products to 
be sold.

(ii) Confirmation that adequate levels (a minimum of 5 million pounds) of 
third party and public liability insurance is, or will be, in place during 
street trading activity.

(iii) Where food is being sold, the applicant must also be a registered 
food business.

(iv) Any trader selling food must achieve a minimum Food Hygiene 
Rating Score of [3] in order to be eligible for a consent. The consent 
would be revoked where the trader falls below this minimum rating of 
[3.]

(v) Where a street trading consent or licence has previously been 
revoked, either by WHBC, or any other authority, WHBC may refuse 
an application for consent.  

(vi) There is no right of appeal against a variation of a condition, or 
refusal to grant or renew a Street Trading Consent. 

3.5.9 The consent holder will be required to keep records of all traders that are 
refused use of the Town Centre Consent including, date, name and company 
name (where appropriate), address, contact number and reason for refusal. 

Page 101



10

Town Centre Consents provide exclusive control over trading in the 
designated area by WHBC town centre teams. 

3.6 Special Events / Markets / Temporary markets

3.6.1 If there are five or more stalls at any one time this constitutes a market and is 
therefore exempt from this policy. See 1.48

3.7 Annual Consents with Quarterly Payments

3.7.1 WHBC acknowledge that the cost of an annual consent can sometimes prove 
prohibitive to new and small street trading businesses.

3.7.2 To assist such commercial activity WHBC will offer the grant of a twelve 
month Street Trading Consent, subject to quarterly fee payments in advance.

3.7.3 Each consent will be issued for a three calendar month period upon the 
payment of the quarterly fee. Provided that the subsequent quarterly fees are 
paid prior to the expiry of each quarterly consent, a further consent for three 
calendar months will be issued until such time as the total consent period has 
reached twelve consecutive calendar months.

3.7.4 Once a consent period of twelve consecutive calendar months has been 
reached, a renewal application will be required which will be subject to the 
normal process of submitting a renewal application.

3.7.5 If the requirements of section 3.7.3 above are not complied with, the annual 
consent will automatically cease to have effect, save for exceptional 
circumstances at WHBC’s written discretion, and no further trading in 
connection with that consent will be permitted until such time as a new 
Consent has been granted.

3.7.6 Once a consent has lapsed for four weeks the pitch will be advertised as an 
available pitch open to applications from interested parties.

4.0 CONSENT CONDITIONS

4.1 Any Street Trading Consent issued by WHBC from ……… will be subject to 
the consent conditions detailed in Appendix D of this Policy.

4.2 In response to changing circumstances, WHBC may wish to add, alter or 
amend the conditions on a trading Consent. Any amendments or variations to 
consents or conditions that are requested by consent holders must be made 
in writing. An administration fee will be charged to the consent holder for any 
amendments or variations made. There is no right of appeal against the 
WHBC’s decision to refuse to grant, amend or vary a consent. 

4.3 In the event of a breach of any of the conditions attached to a Consent, the 
Head of Public Health and Protection may revoke the consent forthwith. In the 
event of a revocation, WHBC will not be liable to pay any compensation 
arising from the revocation nor will the Consent Holder be entitled to a refund 
of any of the Consent fee.

Page 102



11

5.0 ENFORCEMENT

5.1 It is recognised that well-directed enforcement activity by WHBC benefits not 
only the public but also responsible members of the trade.

5.2 In pursuing its objectives detailed in this Policy, WHBC will operate a 
proportionate enforcement regime in accordance with WHBC’s Enforcement 
Policy.

5.3 The responsibility for the overall supervision of street trading lies with the 
Head of Public Health and Protection.

6.0 DEPARTURE FROM POLICY

6.1 In exercising its discretion in carrying out its regulatory functions, WHBC will 
have regard to this Policy document and the principles set out therein.

6.2 Notwithstanding the existence of this Policy, each application will be 
considered on its own merits based on the licensing principles detailed in this 
Policy.

6.3 Where it is necessary for WHBC to depart substantially from this Policy, clear 
and compelling reasons for doing so will be given in writing. The Head of 
Public Health and Protection may authorise a departure from the Policy in 
accordance with this section if he/she considers it necessary in the specific 
circumstances and will advise Councillors via the Members Information 
Service.

7.0 AMENDMENTS TO THIS POLICY

7.1 Any significant amendment to this Policy will only be implemented after 
consultation with existing consent holders, relevant stakeholders and the 
public. All such amendments to this Policy will be undertaken in accordance 
with the WHBC’s Constitution. For the purpose of this section, any significant 
amendment is defined as one that is likely to have:

(i) a significant financial effect on licence holders; or
(ii) a significant procedural effect on licence holders; or
(iii) a significant effect on the community.

7.2 Any minor amendments to this Policy may be authorised by the Head of 
Public Health and Protection and undertaken in accordance with the WHBC’s 
Constitution. For the purpose of this section, any minor amendment is defined 
as one that does not fall within the scope of a significant amendment defined 
in paragraph 7.1.

8.0 FEES AND CHARGES

8.1 The fees charged by this WHBC for Street Trading Consents should cover the 
reasonable cost of administering and enforcing the service.

Page 103



12

8.2 The fees will be reviewed on an annual basis and published on the WHBC’s 
website.

8.3 Should the consent holder wish to vary the Consent at any time during the life 
of the Consent, an administration fee will be charged. 

8.4 Where a trading consent is surrendered during the life of the Consent no 
refund will be made by WHBC.

8.5 At its absolute discretion WHBC may charge different fees for consents or 
products sold that are for different durations or locations, such as town centre 
consents. Not-for-profit organisations will be exempt from application fees.

9.0 DEFINITIONS

TERM DEFINITION

Authorised Officer an officer of WHBC authorised by it to act in 
accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

Consent a consent to trade on a street granted by WHBC, 
pursuant to Schedule 4 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.

Consent Holder the person or company to whom the consent to trade 
has been granted by WHBC.

Consent Street a street that is not prohibited from street trading with 
the consent of WHBC.

Head of Public 
Health and 
Protection

the current post holder (or the Head of Service of the 
appropriate Service Area following any subsequent 
restructure), or any nominated Deputy authorised by 
the WHBC’s Scheme of Delegation

Portfolio Holder for the Elected Member responsible for Licensing (or 
the appropriate Environmental Health Service Area 
following any subsequent restructure), who is a 
member of Cabinet.

Street includes: any road, footway, beach or other area to 
which the public have access without payment; and 
a service area as defined in section 329 of the 
Highways Act 1980, and also includes any part of a 
street.

Street Trading the selling or exposing or offering for sale of any 
article (including a living thing) in a street.

WHBC Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council

Page 104



13

Decision records

30th March 2000 – Review of street trading policy – 6 pitches to remain
15th September 2014-    Consent site removed junction of Peartree Lane and Bridge 
Road East
12th September 2016 – Multi user consent Hatfield Town Centre agreed.
20th July 2017 – Additional condition added to consents that they are not transferable 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1
List of persons consulted

1.1.1 Person(s) from whom comments will be invited 
Chief Constable, Hertfordshire Constabulary and Police Sergeant 
Community Safety Unit 
Chief Fire Officer and Community Fire Safety Unit
All persons recorded on the Environmental Health database as holding a 
Premises licence or a premises operating with a premise licence,  Late Night 
Refreshment Licence 
All persons recorded on the Court database as being issued with a club 
registration certificate or premise operating with a club premises licence.
The chairs of the Chambers of Commerce
Chairs of the Residents’ Associations
Members of the Welwyn Hatfield Council Community Panel
The Parish and Town Councils
Hertfordshire Highways
Neighbouring local authorities
WHC Planning Policy Unit , Town Centre Manager,  Community Safety Unit 
Environmental Health Teams Law and Admin Service
HCA
Trading Standards
Local solicitors and those involved with applications in the Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough.
The Health and Safety Executive
Town centre forum
Local Tourist Office
Retail parks
Welwyn Hatfield Borough councillors.
University of Hertfordshire
PCT
Welwyn Garden City Society
Welwyn Garden City BID

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 109



This page is intentionally left blank



Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982

Application for the use of a multi user street trading consent

To the Welwyn Hatfield Council

I

Of

Hereby make application for the use of the town centre street trading consent for Hatfield in 
accordance with section 3 and Schedule 4 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982.

The area of the consent I wish to trade in is

And I wish to operate between the hours of           and        on (date(s))

The article I wish to trade are

The stall or container I wish to use is;- 

Please add a description and photograph including size/colour/ signage/method of transport/ 
number of staff.

Please attach documentation showing third party and public liability insurance.

Food hygiene rating if selling food.

I declare that I am not under the age of 17 years.

(Two photographs of myself accompany this application)

The sum of £25 accompanies this application in respect of the full fee required by the council 
per day of trading.

Dated                                                                     Signed

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

Fees for street trading

Per trading day/ consent £169.95 per day/per year Max £1189.65
Per stall for multi user consent 
town centre

£25 per day Max £1155 per year

Administration fee For 
changes to consents (to be 
added to the constitution)

£25 per request

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C
Consents as of April 2018
Burrowfield Monday to Friday 06.30-15.30

Saturday 07.30-14.00
Hot and Cold food and drink

Marford Road Lemsford. South 
side of road west of junction 
with Green Lanes

Monday to Thursday 07.00-
17.00
Friday 07.00-14.00

Hot and Cold food and drink 

Travellers Close Welham 
Green

Monday to Friday 07.00-15.00 Hot and Cold food and drink 

Layby on Eastbound 
carriageway of A414 Hertford 
Road between Mill Green and 
Holwell Lane roundabout

Monday to Friday 06.30-16.00 Hot and Cold food and drink 

Stonehills WGC Sunday to Wednesday 18.00-
00.00
Thursday to Saturday 18.00-
02.00

Hot and Cold food and drink 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D
STANDARD CONDITIONS APPLICABLE TO STREET TRADING CONSENTS
General
These Standard Conditions will apply to all consent unless disapplied or varied by
the Head of Public Health and Protection in writing.

Standard Conditions
1. The Consent granted by the Council is personal to the Consent Holder. Multi user 
Town centre consents are managed by the consent holder who may permit multiple 
approved users.
2. The Consent is non-transferable and is applicable to the consent holder only and it 
will relate to a specific stationary van, cart, barrow or other vehicle or moveable stall 
which has been approved by the Council in writing. Town centre consents will be 
used for multiple traders approved by the Councils town centre teams.
3. The consent holder shall not assign, underlet or part with his/her interest under 
this consent.
4. Any van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall must be maintained in a neat, tidy and safe 
condition and comply with all relevant legislation (vehicle tax/MOT/insurance etc).
5. The Consent Holder shall not use the street for any trading purpose other than
the purpose as permitted by the Consent and then only at the specified location
during the permitted hours and days.
6. Only those goods or services specified on the consent may be sold or offered or 
exposed for sale on the street trading consent pitch.
7. Unless specified otherwise in the Consent, the van, vehicle, barrow, cart or
stall, including any permitted temporary furniture and advertising, shall be removed 
from the Consent site at the end of each day’s trading without causing any damage.
8. Any temporary furniture (for example, tables and chairs at food vending vans)
or temporary advertising material (such as ‘A’ boards or other signage) will only
be permitted at, or in the vicinity of, the van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall if
specified on the Consent with prior written approval by the relevant authority.
9. The Consent Holder shall ensure that no advertisements relating to the activities 
permitted by the Consent are placed or affixed to any structures on the highway or 
highway land (including street furniture, road signs and grass verges). Any 
advertisement on private land must have prior written permission from the 
landowner, and planning permission where applicable, proof of which must be 
provided to the Council in writing prior to the advertising being positioned.
10. The Consent Holder shall not cause any obstruction of the street or cause 
danger to any persons using it and shall not do anything, or permit anything to be 
done, which, in the opinion of an Authorised Officer of the Council, may be deemed a 
nuisance or annoyance or danger to any member of the public.
11. Traders shall not allow any obstruction to fire hydrants, manholes or other street 
furniture etc, resulting from their business.
12. The trader must not cause or allow to be caused any damage to the street 
surface, street furniture, lighting and landscaping within the permitted area and will 
be responsible for making good any such damage or payment for works in default.
The Council reserves its right to recover any costs associated with remedying any 
breach of these terms and conditions.
13. The Consent Holder shall not directly or indirectly hawk, tout or solicit custom for 
or advertise by way of handbill, public address system or otherwise seek to attract 
attention or custom by shouting. Neither shall the consent holder make undue noise 

Page 117



by permitting the playing of music, music re-producing or sound amplification 
apparatus or any musical instruments, radio or television sets whilst trading under 
this Consent, other than as specified in the Consent.
14. The Consent Holder shall maintain the area in the vicinity of any van, vehicle,
barrow, cart or stall specified within the Consent in a clean and tidy condition at all 
times.
15. The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a duty of care on individuals and 
businesses to dispose of waste originating from their trade in a certain manner. The 
Consent Holder shall ensure that refuse originating from their trade is disposed of by 
a licensed waste carrier and shall leave the site clear of refuse at the completion of 
each day’s trading. No water or waste material shall be discharged on to the highway 
or any adjacent property.
16. The Council may remove and store or dispose of any furniture, equipment, 
advertisement or other structure placed on the street by the Consent Holder, or any 
person acting on behalf of the Consent Holder, that is not authorised by the Consent 
or has not been authorised in writing by the Council. The Council shall not be 
responsible to the Consent Holder for the safe keeping of any furniture, equipment, 
advertisement or other structure and may levy reasonable charges for the removal, 
storage and/or disposal thereof. If property comes into the possession of the Council 
after being found on buildings or premises owned or managed by the Council then 
section 41 of the Local Government (miscellaneous provisions) Act 1982 will apply
17. A copy of the Consent must be carried by the Consent Holder, or any person.
acting on behalf of the Consent Holder, at all times whilst trading and must be 
produced on demand when required by a Police Officer or an Authorised
Officer of the Council.
18. Traders/trader assistants must report the loss of a consent notice to the Councils 
licensing team within 72hrs of losing it.
19. The Consent Holder shall display a suitable sign stating his or her name and 
trade. The sign must be approved in writing by an Authorised Officer of the Council.
20. The Consent Holder and his/her employees or assistants shall wear suitable
clothes appertaining to the trading undertaken and maintain a professional 
appearance at all times.
21. Traders/trading assistants must not trade under the influence of any illegal or 
intoxicating substance. Any traders found with illegal substances on their pitch or on 
their stall, barrow, cart etc. will have their consent revoked.
22. The Consent Holder shall notify the Head of Public Health and Protection in
writing at Council Offices, Campus East, The Campus, WGC AL8 6AE of any 
criminal convictions or other legal proceedings arising out of the use or enjoyment of 
the Consent within 72 hrs.
23. The Consent Holder shall carry public liability insurance of not less than £5 
million pounds, evidence of which shall be supplied to the Council prior to the grant 
of the Consent.
24. Traders selling food products, shall comply with all current food safety legislation 
including the provisions of the Food Safety Act 1990 and all subsequent act or 
amendments. 
25. All staff must have attended as a minimum ‘level’1 Food Hygiene training within 
the past five years. Evidence of food hygiene training must be available for 
examination by an Authorised Officer of the Council at any time the unit is trading.
26. In the case of food vending vans, vehicles, barrows, carts, or stalls, at least one

Page 118



person involved in the preparation and sale of food must hold a current Level 2 food 
safety certificate accredited by the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, or an 
equivalent qualification, and must be present at the site during all trading hours.
27. The Consent Holder must take adequate precautions to prevent the risk of fire
at the van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall. All hot food vendors are required to comply 
with current fire safety legislation. Where gas cylinders are used, an annual gas 
safety certificate is required to ensure the safety of all gas cooking and heating 
equipment.
28. A serviceable fire blanket and foam fire extinguisher shall be provided at all vans, 
vehicles, barrows, carts or stalls using any form of power.
29. Fabrics or other sheet materials used in the construction of the stalls, roof 
coverings, drapes or awnings shall be rendered flame retardant and maintained in 
that condition.
29. No heat producing equipment shall be used without the prior written express 
permission of the Council.
30. Liquefied petroleum gas shall not be used without the express permission of the 
Council and any installations must be in accordance with the current code of 
practise.
31. No generators shall be used without the prior written express permission of the 
Council and will be placed in a position where they do not present a danger or 
nuisance.
32. A suitably qualified person must install all generators and documentation must be 
provided to show that the generators have been maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer’s instructions.
33. No fuel may be stored in the vicinity of a generator and generators must not be 
filled up during the trading time.
34. All hot food vans, vehicles, barrows, carts or stalls are required to carry a basic 
first aid kit. The Consent Holder and hot food vendors should know how to give first 
aid to treat victims of cuts and burns. All hot food vans, vehicles, barrows, carts or 
stalls should have access to a minimum of one mobile telephone that must be 
serviceable at all times whilst trading.
36. With the exception of Town Centre Consents, Special Events and Market
Consents, the Consent Holder must be the principal trader and have day to day 
control of the van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall. The Consent Holder may employ any 
other person to assist in operating the van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall and shall 
notify the Council of the name and address of such persons. 
37. The Consent Holder shall permit the Council, or any other statutory body, to have 
access to the area designated within a Consent at any time without notice for any 
purpose whatsoever including, but not limited to, carrying out works to the highway 
or private land, or inspecting the same, or otherwise.
38. The Council may revoke the Consent at any time.
39. The Consent Holder will return the Consent to the Council immediately upon
revocation or surrender.
40. In the event of the Consent being surrendered or revoked before the expiry date, 
any refund will be at the discretion of the Council as considered appropriate and 
proportionate.
41. The Council may at any time vary these Conditions without notice.
42. If the trader wishes any of the terms of the consent to be varied application must 
be made in writing to the council in accordance with the statutory requirements.

Page 119



43. Failure to comply with any conditions attached to the Street Trading Consent 
may result in the revocation of such consent. If the consent is revoked the person 
issued with the consent shall have no claim against the council.
44. The Council may revoke this consent at any time and the Council shall not in any 
circumstances whatsoever be liable to pay any compensation to the holder in 
respect of such revocation.
45. Revocation will be authorised by the Head of Public Health and Protection 
documenting the reason for the revocation but there is no appeal process.
46. Once revoked the consent is no longer valid so any further street trading would 
be illegal and subject to enforcement proceedings.

Additional Conditions for Static Pitches
1. Any van, vehicle, barrow, cart or stall shall only be positioned within the 
designated area as outlined on the plan attached to the Consent.
2. Nothing contained herein shall be construed as the grant or purported grant by the 
Council of any tenancy protected by the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954, or any 
permission under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, or any statutory 
modification or re-enactment thereof for the time being in force.

Additional Conditions for Town Centre Consents
1. The Consent Holder will be responsible for ensuring compliance with all consent 
conditions at all times when the consent is in use.
2. The Consent Holder may make the charges outlined in Appendix B payable to 
licensing at Welwyn Hatfield Council for the administration of the consent until such 
time as the threshold is reached. (Appendix B). Once the threshold is reached any 
additional fees will remain with the Town Centre Team to facilitate future events.
3. The Consent Holder may not make any charge for the use of a Town Centre
Consent by organisations or individuals using the Consent for registered charitable 
or not-for-profit purposes. In these cases there is no requirement to pay the licensing 
fee.
4. The Consent Holder must keep records of each stallholder that uses the Town 
Centre Consent, to include:

 date of use;
 location of stall and/or pitch number;
 name and company/organisation name;
 trader’s home address;
 trader’s vehicle registration; and
 trader’s contact telephone number
 Date of birth (17 and over only)

5. The multi-use consent holder must keep records of each stallholder that is refused 
use of the Town Centre Consent, to include:

 date of proposed use;
 location of proposed stall;
 name and company/organisation name;
 trader’s home address;
 trader’s contact telephone number; and

Page 120



 reason for refusal

6. In determining whether or not to allow an individual or organisation the use of a
Town Centre Consent, the Consent Holder must make his/her determination in
accordance with the principles contained within paragraph 3.5 of the Street
Trading Policy.

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX E

ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR STREET TRADING

Roles Responsibilities
Environmental Health and Licensing Food Safety/ Health and Safety

Street trading consents
Town Centre Teams Buskers

Leaflet distributors
Party political canvassers
Town centre street traders where a consent is 
in place.

Corporate property Markets
Councillors New proposed street trading consents.

Changes to standard conditions.
Policy development

Planning Change of use/regeneration
Police Peddlers
Highways Table and chairs and A boards
Environmental services Litter enforcement

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



                
 

               

Street Collection Regulations 
 
Regulations made by Welwyn & Hatfield Council with regard to street collections. 
 

In pursuance of Section 5 of the Police, Factories etc (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1916, 
as amended by Section 251 and Schedule 29 to the Local Government Act 1972, the Council 
hereby make the following Regulations with respect to the places where the conditions under 
which persons may be permitted in any street or public place within the District of Welwyn 
Hatfield (except in that part within the Metropolitan Police District) to collect money or sell 
articles for the benefit of charitable or other purposes. 
 
1. In these Regulations, unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

a) “collection” refers to a collection of money or a sale of articles for the benefit of 
charitable or other purposes and the word “collector” shall be construed accordingly; 

 

b) “promoter” refers to a person who causes others to act as collectors; 
 

c) “the Council” refers to Welwyn & Hatfield Council 
 

d) “permit” refers to a permit for a collection; 
 

e) “contributor” refers to a person who contributes to a collection and includes a 
purchaser of articles for sale for the benefit of charitable or other purposes; 

 

f) “collecting box” refers to a box or other receptacle for the reception of money from 
contributors. 

 
2. No collection, other than a collection taken at a meeting in the open air, shall be made in any 

street or public place within the District of Welwyn Hatfield (except in that part within the 
Metropolitan Police District) unless a promoter shall have obtained a permit from the Council. 
 

3.   Application for a permit shall be made in writing not later than one month before the date on 
which it is proposed to make the collection. 
 

Provided that the Council may reduce the period of one month if satisfied that there are special 
reasons for so doing. 
 

4. No collection shall be made except upon the day and between the hours stated in the permit. 
 

5. The Council may, in granting a permit, limit the collection to such streets or public places or 
such parts thereof as it thinks fit. 
 

6. a) No person may assist or take part in any collection without the written 
authority of a promoter. 

 

 
 
 
  

b) Any person authorised under paragraph (1) above shall produce such written 
authority forthwith for inspection on being requested to do so by a duly 
authorised officer of the Council or any constable. 

 
7. No collection shall be made in any part of the carriageway of any street which has a footway 

 
8. No collection shall be made in a manner likely to inconvenience or annoy any person. 

 
9. No collector shall importune any person to the annoyance of such a person. 
 
10. 

 
While collecting: 

 a) A collector shall remain stationary; and 
 

 b) A collector or two collectors together shall not be nearer to another collector 
than 25 metres. 

 

 Provided that the Council may, if it thinks fit, waive the requirements of this regulation in 
respect of a collection which has been authorised to be held in connection with a procession. 
 

11. No promoter, collector or person who is otherwise connected with a collection shall permit a 
person under the age of sixteen years to act as a collector. 
 

Page 125



 
12. a) Every collector shall carry a collecting box. 

 

 b) All collecting boxes shall be numbered consecutively and shall be securely 
closed and sealed in such a way as to prevent them being opened without 
the seal being broken. 

 

 c) All money received by a collector from contributors shall immediately be 
placed in a collecting box. 

 

 d) Every collector shall deliver, unopened, all collecting boxes in his possession 
to a promoter. 

 
13. A collector shall not carry or use any collecting box, receptacle or tray which does not bear 

displayed prominently thereon the name of the charity or fund which is to benefit not any 
collecting box which is not duly numbered. 
 

14. a) Subject to paragraph (2) below a collecting box shall be opened in the 
presence of a promoter and another responsible person. 

 

 b) Where a collecting box is delivered, unopened, to a bank, it may be opened 
by an official of the bank. 
 

 c) As soon as a collecting box has been opened, the person opening it shall 
count the contents and shall enter the amount with the number of the 
collecting box on a list which shall be certified by that person. 
 

15. a) No payment shall be made to any collector 
 

 b) No payment shall be made out of the proceeds of a collection, either directly 
or indirectly to any person connected with the promotion or conduct of such a 
collection for, or in respect of, services connected therewith except such 
payments as may have been approved by this Council. 
 

16. Within one month after the date of any collection the person whom a permit has been 
granted shall forward to this Council 
 

 a) A statement of account in the form set out in the Schedule to the 
Regulations, or in the form to the like effect, showing the amount received 
and the expenses and the payments incurred in connection with such a 
collection, and certified by that person and either a qualified accountant or an 
independent responsible person acceptable to this Council.  
 

 b) A List of Collectors 
 

 c) A list of the amounts contained in each collecting box; and shall, if required 
by this Council, satisfy it as to the proper application of the proceeds of the 
collection. 
 

 The said person shall also, within the same period, at the expense of that person and 
after the certificate under paragraph 16(1)(a) above, has been given, publish in such 
newspaper or newspapers as this Council may direct a statement showing the name 
of the person to whom the permit has been granted, the area to which the permit 
relates, the name of the charity or fund to benefit, the date of the collection, the 
amount collected, and the amount of the expenses and payments incurred in 
connection with such a collection. 
 

 a) This Council may if satisfied that there are special reasons for so doing, 
extend the period on one month referred to in paragraph 16(1) above. 

 b) For the purposes of this Regulation ‘a qualified accountant’ means a member 
of one or more of the following bodies:- 

• The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 

• The Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland 

• The Association of Certified Accountants 

• The Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland. 

 

Page 126



HOUSE TO HOUSE COLLECTIONS ACT 1939 

House to House Collections Regulations 1947 (as amended) 

 
The above Act and the Regulations made there under contain important provisions for THE 
REGULATION OF HOUSE TO HOUSE COLLECTIONS FOR CHARITABLE PURPOSES, and 
prescribe FINES AND/OR IMPRISONMENT for offences against the Act or the Regulations. 

1. Except in the cases specified in Paragraphs 3 and 4:-  
No collection in any locality for a charitable purpose may be made unless the 
promoter is licensed by the Licensing Authority for the area comprising that 
locality, and the collectors are authorised by the promoter. 
 

2. Application for a licence must be made in the prescribed manner.  The Licensing 
Authority cannot grant a licence for a period longer than twelve months and may 
refuse a licence, or where granted, may revoke it, in circumstances specified in 
the Act. 
There is a right of Appeal to the Secretary of State against the refusal or the 
revocation of a licence, within fourteen days from the date on which notice is 
given of the refusal or the revocation. 
 

3. Where the Secretary of State is satisfied that a person pursues a charitable 
purpose throughout the whole, or a substantial part, of England and Wales, 
and is desirous of promoting collections for that purpose, the Secretary of 
State may by Order direct, in effect, that such person shall be exempt from the 
requirement to obtain licences from the Licensing Authority, as respects all 
collections for that purpose in such localities as may be described in the Order. 
 

4. If the Chief Constable for the Police Area comprising a locality in which a 
collection for a charitable purpose is being, or proposed to be, made is satisfied 
that the purpose is local in character, and that the collection is likely to be 
completed within a short period, he may grant to the person who appears to 
him to be principally concerned in the promotion of the collection a Certificate in 
the prescribed form; and where a Certificate is so granted, a Licence from the 
Licensing Authority is not required, and the provisions of the Regulations (as to 
which see Paragraph 5 below) shall not apply to a collection made in conformity 
with such Certificate. 
 

5. Regulations have been made by the Secretary of State under the Act.  The 
Regulations include the following, amongst other provisions – 

a. Every promoter of a collection must exercise all due diligence to secure 
that persons authorised to act as collectors are fit and proper persons and 
to secure compliance by collectors with the Regulations. 

b. No promoter of a collection shall permit any person to act as a 
collector unless he has issued to that person – 

(i) A prescribed Certificate of Authority; 

Page 127



(ii) A prescribed Badge; 
(iii) If money is to be collected, a Collecting Box marked, or a 

Receipt Book (with receipts and counterfoils or duplicates 
consecutively numbered) marked on every receipt, with a 
general indication of the purpose of the collection, and a 
distinguishing number.  

c. In the case of a collection in respect of which a Licence had been granted, 
every prescribed Certificate of Authority shall be given on a form 
obtained from H.M Stationary Office, and every prescribed Badge 
shall be so obtained. 

d. No person under the age of 16 years, shall act or be authorised to act as a 
collector of money. 

e. No collector shall importune any person to the annoyance of such person, 
or remain in, or at the door of, any house if requested to leave by the 
occupant thereof. 

f. The promoter of a collection must, within one month of the expiry of the 
licence, furnish an account of the collection in the form prescribed to the 
licensing authority or the Secretary of State, as the case may be. 

 
DEFINITIONS 

 
6. “Charitable Purposes” means charitable, benevolent, or philanthropic purpose.   

 
“Collection” means an appeal to the public, made by means of visits from house 
to house, to give, whether for consideration or not, money or other property; and 
“Collector” means a person who makes the appeal in the course of such a visit. 
 
“House” includes a place of business 
 
“Proceeds” means, in relation to a collection, all money and all other property 
given, whether for consideration or not, in response to the appeal. 
 
“Promoter” means a person who causes others to act as collectors for the 
purposes of the collection. 

 

Page 128



Appendix H

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council guide to direct debit street collectors.

 All direct debit collectors must book a slot with the Licensing Team on 01707 357925 prior to 
collecting in the Welwyn Hatfield Borough.

 Weekends are reserved for cash collections by registered charities.
 Only two week days are allocated for direct debit collections in each town centre. Once 

these days have been allocated no further direct debit collectors will be allowed that week.
 Town Centre managers may delineate the location where fundraisers may work.
 Fundraisers may be limited to less than six on any occasion.
 Fundraisers may be excluded for special occasions.
 Fundraisers must carry ID at all times.
 Fundraisers will comply with the Institute of fundraisers ‘Face to Face Activity Code of 

Fundraising Practise.’

Page 129



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
For Decision

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

Recommendations from the Cabinet on 6 November 2018:-

67.3 Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2019/20 (Forward Plan Reference 
FP870)

The Cabinet considered the continuation of the scheme into 2019/20.

The Council’s council tax support scheme replaced council tax benefits 
from April 2013 and was based on a broad framework agreed as part of a 
consultation undertaken with Hertfordshire County Council, the 
Hertfordshire Police and Crime Commissioner and other interested parties.

Much of the old council tax benefits scheme was retained within the local 
support scheme and the Council had continued to protect pensioners, 
disabled claimants and claimants with children under five.  This was 
achieved by calculating council tax support on 75% of the council tax 
liability and not 100% and this was applied to working age claimants.  

It was intended in 2019/20 to continue with the same council tax support 
scheme that the Council rolled out in 2018/19 and consultation had taken 
place with the County Council responding to say that it was in agreement 
with this approach.

The Cabinet RECOMMENDS to the Council that the localised council tax 
support scheme continue in 2019/20 to help people on low/no income to 
receive a reduction on their council tax.  

Page 131

Agenda Item 10c



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

Part I
Main author: Farhad Cantel
Executive Member: Duncan Bell
All Wards

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET – 6 NOVEMBER 2018 
REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR (RESOURCES, ENVIRONMENT AND 
CULTURAL SERVICES)

LOCALISED COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME – 2019/20

1 Executive Summary

1.1 The Council’s Council Tax Support Scheme replaced council tax benefits from 
April 2013.  Our scheme was based on a broad framework agreed as part of a 
consultation undertaken with Hertfordshire County Council, Hertfordshire Police 
and Crime Commissioner and other interested parties.

1.2 Much of the old council tax benefits scheme was retained within our local support 
scheme and we have continued to protect pensioners, disabled claimants and 
claimants with children under five.  This was achieved by calculating council tax 
support on 75% of the council tax liability and not 100%, and this was applied to 
working age claimants.  

1.3 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet that it is our intention in 2019/20 to 
continue with the same council tax support scheme that Welwyn Hatfield 
Borough Council rolled out in 2018/19.  Consultation has taken place with 
Hertfordshire County Council (HCC) and Hertfordshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner on our intention to continue with the same scheme.  HCC has 
responded to say that they are in agreement with our approach.

2 Recommendation(s)

2.1 Cabinet recommend to Full Council that our localised council tax support scheme 
continues in 2019/20 to help people on low/no income to receive a reduction on 
their council tax.  

3 Explanation

3.1 The Council’s localised council tax support scheme is based on a reduction of 
25% in council tax liability whilst still protecting some vulnerable groups.  This 
means a claimant’s assessed entitlement is calculated on 75% of the council tax 
bill.  

3.2 Our scheme fully protects pensioners and families with children under 5 and 
those in receipt of Personal Independence Payments (PIP) (formerly disability 
living allowance) so that they continue to receive the same level of protection, 
and do not have to pay anymore council tax than they paid under the old council 
tax benefit system.    This protects claimants with a disability premium, severe 
disability premium, child disability and families with young children.  

3.3 Other claimants have an additional 25% to pay compared to the Council Tax 
Benefits scheme.  

Page 133



- 2 -

3.4 Some minor changes were made to our scheme in 2017/18 which brought our 
local council tax support scheme in line with housing benefit regulations.

Implications

4 Legal Implication(s)

4.1 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 came into force on 31 October 2012 
and imposed a duty on local billing authorities to introduce a localised council tax 
reduction scheme by January 2013.  The scheme aligns with Universal Credit 
and support work incentives, and avoids disincentives to move into work.  For 
pensioners there is no change in their level of awards and local authorities are 
required to consider ensuring support for other vulnerable groups.

5 Financial Implication(s)

5.1 Based on the latest data available, the expenditure on the 2018/19 council tax 
support scheme currently stands at £6.9m, of which £2.8m is paid to pensioners; 
£2.1m to claimants with disabilities; £0.9m to families with children under 5 and 
£1.1m to the remaining working age group.  

5.2 The cost of the council tax support scheme is met from within the collection fund 
through a reduced tax base.  The cost therefore has to be estimated prior to the 
setting of the tax base which will then inform the Council Tax Resolution.   

5.3 The cost of the council tax support scheme in Welwyn Hatfield for 2019/20 is 
forecast to continue at a similar level to the current year.  However, the accuracy 
of this forecast will depend on the wider economic conditions outside the 
Council’s control.     

6 Risk Management Implications

6.1 The key financial risk related to our council tax support scheme is the possible 
loss of council tax revenue if less well-off residents are unable to pay.  This is 
mitigated by assuming an element of non-collection within the tax base but a 
greater level of non-collection, or increase in demand for support, would need to 
be met by the major preceptors and this Council would need to find its share. 

6.2 If demand is higher than estimated the collection fund will go into deficit and if 
demand is lower than estimated this would result in a surplus.    

7 Security & Terrorism Implication(s)

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications with the recommendation in this 
report.  

8 Procurement Implication(s)

8.1 There are none.

9 Climate Change Implication(s)

9.1 The proposals in this report will not impact on greenhouse gas emissions.

Page 134



- 3 -

10 Human Resources Implication(s)

10.1 There are none.

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s)

11.1 Those people who are on a means tested benefit required to meet their basic 
living needs could also be in receipt of council tax support which they require to 
meet their council tax liability.  Any changes to the council tax support they 
receive could cause financial hardship.  

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s)

12.1 There are none.

13 Link to Corporate Priorities

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority: Our Council 
and promoting equality and fairness.    

14 Equality and Diversity

11.1 A full and detailed Equality Impact Assessment was carried out on the Council’s 
localised council tax support scheme.  This resulted in a focus group meeting to 
ensure that the range of impacts on different categories of claimants was 
understood and that our overall work was robust and resilient to challenge.    The 
focus group consisted of a mixture of individuals from the Borough Panel, the 
Tenants Panel (Housing Trust), the Residents Scrutiny Panel; Herts Action on 
Disability, Welwyn Hatfield CAB, Hertfordshire County Council’s Money Advice 
Unit and Individual’s interested in consultation on these kinds of issues.  

Name of author Farhad Cantel
Title Client Support Services Manager
Date September 2018

Page 135



This page is intentionally left blank



Part I
Item No: 11

WELWYN HATFIELD COUNCIL
COUNCIL – 19 NOVEMBER 2018

NOTICE OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

To consider the following notice of motion submitted under Procedure Rule 50:-

1. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Tamsin Jackson-
Mynott and will be seconded by Councillor Malcolm Cowan:-

“In view of the threat of funding to maintained nursery schools finishing in 2020, 
this Council will write to Grant Shapps MP requesting that he support the efforts of 
the All Party Parliamentary Group for Nursery Schools by lobbying the Chancellor 
of the Exchequer and the Minister for Education, to secure funding for maintained 
nursery schools beyond 2020.”

2. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Glyn Hayes and will 
be seconded by Councillor Max Holloway:-

“This Council notes that many Council budgets are now at Breaking Point. Austerity 
has caused huge damage to communities up and down the UK, with devastating 
effects on key public services that protect the most defenceless in society – 
children at risk, disabled adults and vulnerable older people – and the services we 
all rely on, like clean streets, libraries and children’s centre.

This Council notes that the Chief Secretary to the Treasury Liz Truss – stated on 
BBC Newsnight on 1 October 2018 that the government is ‘not making cuts to local 
authorities’. 

This Council notes that our funding from Government has been cut by over 50% 
since 2010. This Council further notes that Prime Minister Theresa May has 
claimed that ‘austersity is over’ despite a further cuts to council budgets appearing 
within the recent budget.

Given that these examples at the highest level of government show a complete 
lack of understanding of the effect of austerity to Councils’ like Welwyn Hatfield. 
This Council resolves to ask the Leader of the Council to write to the Chancellor of 
the Exchequer, the Prime Minister and the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government setting out the funding pressures faced by 
our local Council and calling on the Government to truly end austerity in local 
government”.

3. The following motion has been submitted by Councillor Kieran Thorpe and 
will be seconded by Councillor Glyn Hayes:-

“This Council notes that it has previously debated and passed motions opposing 
the merger of Police and Fire services within Hertfordshire and moreover, cuts to 
our emergency services.

Page 137

Agenda Item 11



This Council wrote to the Leader of Hertfordshire County Council raising these 
concerns and made clear our opposition to a reduction in our Fire and Rescue 
Service.

This Council notes the reply received from the Leader of Hertfordshire County 
Council mentioned performance standards remaining as they are, but did not 
address future reductions in resources with Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service.

This Council is disappointed to note that only days later, the County Council 
produced a draft integrated risk management plan (IRMP) setting out a draft of 
proposals for the next five years such as reducing the size of fire crews and 
removing and replacing fire engines with smaller vans that carry less equipment 
and people.

This Council notes with concern that the Fire Brigade Union calculate this would 
lead to the loss of 50 Firefighters in Hertfordshire, on top of the 150 Firefighters 
already lost in the last round of cutbacks.

Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service has experienced a 5% increase in call 
numbers in the last year alone. The number of injuries sustained as a result of fire 
have nearly doubled in five years and, most tragically of all, three times as many 
Hertfordshire residents died this past year when compared to the previous year:

This represents the highest number of deaths from fire in Hertfordshire for five 
years.

This Council resolves to again object in the strongest possible terms these 
proposals to further cut Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service as outlined in 
this draft plan.”

Page 138


	Agenda
	4 PETITIONS
	5 APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES
	6 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
	9 QUESTIONS BY MEMBERS
	10a Adoption of the Welwyn Hatfield Council Statement of Principles Under the Gambling Act 2005
	10a - Gambling Act
	10a1 - policy 2019 final
	10a2 - Appendix 2 letter from gamcare
	10a3 - ABB letter Appendix 3
	10a4 - ABB response summary Appendix 4

	10b Street Trading Policy
	10b - Street trading
	10b1 - Appendix 1Final street trading policy for committee 2018
	10b2 - appendix 2- Consultees
	10b3 - App A- application form
	10b4 - App A -Multi user app form
	10b5 - Appendix B
	10b6 - Appendix C
	10b7 - Appendix D
	10b8 - Appendix E
	10b9 - Appendix F
	10b10 - Appendix G
	10b11 - Appendix H

	10c Localised Council Tax Support Scheme 2019/20
	10c - Localised council tax support

	11 NOTICES OF MOTIONS UNDER PROCEDURE RULE 50

